Cabinet

Public Document Pack

20 March 2019
Time and venue:
6.00 pm in the Court Room at Eastbourne Town Hall, Grove Road, BN21 4UG
Membership:
Councillor David Tutt (Chair); Councillors Alan Shuttleworth (Deputy-Chair)
Margaret Bannister, Jonathan Dow, Stephen Holt, Colin Swansborough and
John Ungar
Quorum: 3
Published: Tuesday, 12 March 2019

Agenda
1

Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2019 (Pages 1 - 12)

2

Apologies for absence

3

Declaration of members' interests (Please see note at end of agenda)

4

Questions by members of the public
On matters not already included on the agenda and for which prior notice has
been given (total time allowed 15 minutes).

5

Urgent items of business
The Chairman to notify the Cabinet of any items of urgent business to be added
to the agenda.

6

Right to address the meeting/order of business
The Chairman to report any requests received to address the Cabinet from a
member of the public or from a Councillor in respect of an item listed below and to
invite the Cabinet to consider taking such items at the commencement of the
meeting.

7

Corporate performance - quarter 3 - 2018/19 (Pages 13 - 64)
Part A - Corporate Performance
Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Colin Swansborough
Part B - Financial Performance
Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Stephen Holt

8

Equality and fairness annual report 2018 and action plan 2019
(Pages 65 - 80)
Report of Chief Executive
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Swansborough

9

Acquisition of land in Old Orchard Road (Pages 81 - 86)
Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Alan Shuttleworth

10

Exclusion of the public
The Chief Executive considers that discussion of the following items is likely to
disclose exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972 and may therefore need to take place in private session. The exempt
information reasons are shown beneath the items listed below. Furthermore, in
relation to paragraph 10 of Schedule 12A, it is considered that the public interest
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information. (The requisite notices having been given under regulation 5 of the
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012.)
(Note: Exempt papers are printed on pink paper).

11

Acquisition of land in Old Orchard Road - Appendix 1 (Pages 87 - 90)
Report of Director of Regeneration and Planning
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Alan Shuttleworth
Exempt information reason 3 - Information relating to the financial or business
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)

12

Corporate performance - quarter 3 - 2018/19 - Write-off of irrecoverable
debts (Pages 91 - 92)
Report of Chief Finance Officer
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Stephen Holt
Exempt information reason 3 - Information relating to the financial or business
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)

Information for the public
Accessibility: Please note that the venue for this meeting is wheelchair accessible and
has an induction loop to help people who are hearing impaired. This agenda and
accompanying reports are published on the Council’s website in PDF format which means
you can use the “read out loud” facility of Adobe Acrobat Reader.
Filming/Recording: This meeting may be filmed, recorded or broadcast by any
person or organisation. Anyone wishing to film or record must notify the Chair prior to
the start of the meeting. Members of the public attending the meeting are deemed to

3

have consented to be filmed or recorded, as liability for this is not within the Council’s
control.
Public participation: Please contact Democratic Services (see end of agenda) for the
relevant deadlines for registering to speak on a matter which is listed on the agenda if
applicable.

Information for councillors
Disclosure of interests: Members should declare their interest in a matter at the
beginning of the meeting.
In the case of a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI), if the interest is not registered
(nor the subject of a pending notification) details of the nature of the interest must be
reported to the meeting by the member and subsequently notified in writing to the
Monitoring Officer within 28 days.
If a member has a DPI or other prejudicial interest he/she must leave the room when
the matter is being considered (unless he/she has obtained a dispensation).
Councillor right of address: Councillors wishing to address the meeting who are not
members of the committee must notify the Chairman and Democratic Services in
advance (and no later than immediately prior to the start of the meeting).

Democratic Services
For any further queries regarding this agenda or notification of apologies please
contact Democratic Services.
Email: committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone: 01323 410000
Website: http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/
modern.gov app available
View upcoming public committee documents on your iPad or Android Device with the free
modern.gov app.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1

Cabinet
Minutes of meeting held in Court Room at Eastbourne Town Hall, Grove Road,
BN21 4UG on 6 February 2019 at 6.00 pm
Present:
Councillor David Tutt (Chair)
Councillors Alan Shuttleworth (Deputy-Chair), Margaret Bannister, Jonathan Dow,
Stephen Holt, Colin Swansborough and John Ungar
Officers in attendance:
Robert Cottrill (Chief Executive), Homira Javadi (Chief Finance Officer), Philip Evans
(Director of Tourism & Enterprise), Ian Fitzpatrick (Director of Regeneration and
Planning), Tim Whelan (Director of Service Delivery), Becky Cooke (Assistant
Director for Human Resources and Transformation), Peter Finnis (Assistant Director
for Corporate Governance), Catherine Knight (Assistant Director of Legal and
Democratic Services) and Simon Russell (Committee and Civic Services Manager)
52

Minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 2018
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 2018 were submitted and
approved and the Chair was authorised to sign them as a correct record.

53

Apologies for absence
None were reported.

54

Declaration of members' interests
Councillors Tutt and Ungar declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 15
(Housing delivery programme) as members of Aspiration Homes LLP and
Eastbourne Housing Investment Company Limited Board. They both withdrew
from the room whilst the item was considered. Councillor Shuttleworth chaired
the meeting for the duration of the item.
Councillors Swansborough and Shuttleworth declared a personal interest in
agenda item 18 (Community grants programme – small grants) as they were
associated with different groups that had applied for grant funding. They
remained in the room and took part in the discussion whilst the item was
considered.
1
Page 1

6 February 2019

55

2

Cabinet

Order of business
As Duncan Kerr, CEO of Wave Leisure Trust Ltd was present at the meeting,
the Chair and Cabinet agreed to take agenda item 13 (Wave Leisure services)
first.

56

Wave Leisure services
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Tourism and Enterprise
regarding a proposal to transfer Eastbourne Borough Council leisure services
facilities to be operated by Wave Leisure.
Resolved (Key decision):
(1) To approve measures to create new agreements with Wave Leisure to
operate the four Leisure Centres (Eastbourne Sports Park, Hampden Park,
Shinewater, Cavendish), Regency Community Centre and Motcombe Pool
and now to include: a) Sovereign Harbour Community Centre, b) Use of
seasonal football pitches across the following sites – Old Town Rec. Princes
Park, c) Tennis courts at Hampden Park and Old Town Rec, as of 1st April
2019. To delegate authority to the Director of Tourism and Enterprise, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Tourism and Enterprise, to
negotiate and conclude any lease, contract, grant and other arrangements to
allow for the operation of these Centres in the most efficient structure to
achieve this outcome ensuring compliance with all legal requirements.
(2) To approve future monitoring of the agreement provided by Wave in the
form of an annual report to Cabinet.
(3) To agree that the delegations at (1) and (3) above include authorisation
not to dispose by auction or invitation of tenders following public
advertisement (sought under Contract Procedure Rule 18.1).
(4) To resolve that any leases to be granted to Wave Leisure, to allow them to
occupy premises outlined in the report would help the Council to secure the
promotion or improvement of the social well-being of the Council’s area.
Reason for decisions:
To enable improved management and investment opportunities for the
existing four ‘dry’ leisure sites, Regency Community Centre and Motcombe
Pool and a) Sovereign Harbour Community Centre b) the seasonal football
pitches across the following sites – Old Town Rec. Princes Park and c) tennis
courts at Hampden Park and Old Town Rec; with an emphasis on improving
community participation in sports activities and improving the wellbeing of the
local community through a more active lifestyle.

Page 2

6 February 2019

57

3

Cabinet

General fund revenue budget 2019/20
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer, detailing the
general fund budget proposals for 2019/20 and capital programme 2018/22.
Visiting member, Councillor Wallis addressed the Cabinet and outlined the
continued issues in alleyways and tree stumps around the Borough and the
need to tackle the problem, potentially through the Neighbourhood First team.
Councillor Wallis and the Cabinet were unanimous in praise of the team for
their reactive and proactive work around the town.
Although not the responsibility of the Council, the Cabinet agreed to work
together with other members and officers to identify an approach to the issues
raised and would continue to raise awareness at East Sussex County Council.
Councillor Ungar had already undertaken work on tackling the tree stump
issue.
Summary of the budget proposals, detailed in the report, included overall
savings and new income totalling £1.7 million, efficiency savings of £0.6
million, new and increased income of £1.1 million and other recurring service
growth of £1.1 million. This was despite a further reduction in government
funding of £0.445 million. The Council had continued to retain front line
services despite regular cuts from central government, through innovative
ideas such as agile working, contract management and an entrepreneurial
approach to investment.
The Chief Finance Officer provided assurance that the integrated budget and
corporate planning process provided a robust basis for identifying appropriate
budget estimates and appropriate level of reserves. She added that in her
view, the Council was reasonably placed financially to meet the demands on
its services. However, the economic climate was uncertain and the challenge
over the medium term was likely to be profound. Overall, more change was
necessary to move to a sustainable position. The Cabinet expressed their
thanks to the Chief Finance Officer, Finance team, past and present for their
long term view when planning and producing budgets.
Recommended to Council: (Budget and policy framework):
(1) To approve the general fund budget for 2018/19 (Revised) and 2019/20
(original), set out at appendix 1 to the report, including growth and savings
proposals for 2019/20 as set out at appendix 2 to the report.
(2) To approve an increase in the Council Tax for Eastbourne Borough
Council of 2.99% resulting in a Band D charge of £246.77 for 2019/20.
(3) To approve the revised general fund capital programme 2018/22 as set
out at appendix 3 to the report.

Page 3

6 February 2019

4

Cabinet

(4) To note the section s151 Officers sign off as outlined in section 1.6 of the
report.
Reason for decisions:
The Cabinet had to recommend to Full Council the setting of a revenue
budget and associated council tax for the forthcoming financial year by law.
58

Treasury management and prudential indicators 2019/20, capital strategy
and investment strategy
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer, regarding the
Council’s annual treasury management strategy, capital strategy and
investment strategy, in addition to the treasury and prudential indicators for
the next financial year.
The Cabinet were assured that the council’s borrowing and investment activity
had been compliant with the regulations and there had been no breach of
policy.
Resolved (Non-key decision):
(1) To note the extended role of the Chief Finance Officer as set out at
appendix 7 to the report.
Recommended to Council (Budget and policy framework):
(2) To approve the treasury management strategy and annual investment
strategy as set out in the report and at appendix 4 to the report.
(3) To approve the methodology for calculating the minimum revenue
provision as set out at paragraph 2.3 of the report and at appendix 2 to the
report.
(4) To approve the prudential and treasury indicators as set out in the report.
(5) To approve the specified and non-specified investment categories listed at
appendix 5 to the report.
(6) To approve the Capital Strategy as set out at appendix 1 to the report.
Reason for decisions:
It is a requirement of the budget setting process for the Council to review and
approve the Prudential and Treasury indicators, Treasury Strategy, Capital
Strategy and Investment Strategy.

Page 4

6 February 2019

59

5

Cabinet

Housing revenue account budget 2019/20
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer regarding the
detailed housing revenue account (HRA) budget proposals, rent levels,
service charges and heating costs for 2019/20 and the housing revenue
account capital programme for 2018/22.
Recommended to Council (Budget and policy framework):
(1) To approve the HRA budget for 2019/20 and revised 2018/19 as set out at
appendix 1 to the report.
(2) To approve that social and affordable rents (including Shared Ownership)
are decreased by 1% in line with Government policy.
(3) To grant delegated authority to the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation
with the Cabinet portfolio holders for Financial Services and Direct Assistance
Services, to take measures in the management of the Week 53 rent year.
(4) To approve that service charges for general needs properties are
decreased by 13.20%.
(5) To approve that service charges for the older persons sheltered
accommodation are increased by 0.24%.
(6) To approve that the support charge for sheltered housing residents
remained at £7.20 per unit, per week.
(7) To approve that heating costs were set at a level designed to recover the
estimated actual cost.
(8) To approve that water charges are set at a level designed to recover the
estimated cost of metered consumption.
(9) To approve that garage rents remained at current levels.
(10) To grant delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with
the Cabinet Portfolio Holders for Financial Services and Direct Assistance
Services and the Head of Finance to finalise Eastbourne Homes’
management fee and delivery plan.
(11) To approve the housing revenue account capital programme as set out at
appendix 2 to the report.
Reason for decisions:
The Cabinet had to recommend to Full Council the setting of the HRA
revenue and capital budget and the level of social and affordable housing
rents for the forthcoming year.

Page 5

6 February 2019

60

6

Cabinet

Business rate retail discount policy
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery, seeking
approval for a proposed retail discount policy.
Although not a legislative requirement, a consultation with local ratepayers,
Chamber of Commerce and Federation of Small Businesses took place and
ended on 31 January 2019. The outcome of the consultation was tabled at the
meeting and published online as an appendix. It detailed that 77% of the
responses were in favour for the qualifying business criteria and 69% were in
favour of the proposed non-qualifying business criteria.
Resolved (Key decision):
(1) To approve the business rate retail discount policy as set out at appendix
1 to the report.
(2) To grant the Director of Service Delivery delegated authority, in
consultation with the Lead Member, to review and, if necessary, amend the
retail discount policy following the consultation period and at the end of year
one of the scheme
(3) To grant the Director of Service Delivery delegated authority to implement
and enforce the retail discount policy, including any measures necessary for
or incidental to its management and administration.
Reason for decisions:
Cabinet approval is required for the retail discount policy which would be used
for the purposes of administering the scheme.

61

Disabled facilities grant policy
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery, seeking
approval for a proposed disabled facilities grant policy, following budget
allocation from the Better Care Fund.
The policy would improve the lives of people with disabilities to meet their
care and mobility needs by enabling them to live independently with privacy
and dignity.
Resolved (Key decision):
To approve the disabled facilities grant policy.
Reasons for decision:
Introducing discretionary elements would:

Page 6

6 February 2019

7

Cabinet

- Allow the fast track adaptations approach in line with the best practice from
the National Audit Office MHCLG and the Department of Health and Social
Care.
- Take account of the increase in labour and material costs
- Increase the incentive for residents to move to a more suitable property
- Provide a safety net for cases of genuine hardship
- Allow fees to be paid for feasibility studies
- Introduce Hospital Discharge Grants
62

East Sussex Business Rates Pilot 2019/20
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer, updating
members on the East Sussex Business Rates Pilot bid for 2019/20.
The government had announced in December 2017, the aim of increasing the
level of business rates retained by local government from the current 50% to
the equivalent of 75% in April 2020. Local authorities were invited to apply to
become 75% business rate retention pilots in 2019/20 and East Sussex
County Council’s bid was announced as successful on 6 December 2018.
Currently the County Council, Districts and Boroughs and the Fire Authority
are in a 50% pool. Table 2 indicated the potential 75% Pilot gain over the
current pool. It was clarified that the income anticipated in the report were not
guaranteed and therefore was not included in the revenue estimates for
2019/20 in agenda item 7.
Resolved (Non-key decision):
(1) To agree that Wealden District Council be nominated as the lead authority.
(2) To agree that Eastbourne Borough Council pilots 75% business rates
retention, resulting in an additional anticipated gain of £0.2m over current
pooling arrangements.
(3) To agree the basic principle that no authority would receive a lower level of
funding than they would have received without the pool.
(4) To agree to split resources gained on the growth in business rates on the
basis of the split being 26% to East Sussex County Council, 5% to the Fire
authority and the remaining 44% split amongst the District/Borough Councils;
(5) To agree the financial stability and economic development split of funding.

Page 7

6 February 2019

8

Cabinet

(6) To agree that the finalisation of the Memorandum of Understanding
(appendix A) is delegated to the Chief Finance Officer.
Reason for decisions:
The Government had invited councils to apply to be pilots of 75% rates
retention. Based on the independent assessment carried out by LG Future,
the Council was anticipated to benefit from the proposed arrangements. This
report sets out the background to the pilot and informs Cabinet of the latest
position.
63

Local Development Scheme 2019-2022
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and
Planning, seeking their endorsement of the Local Development Scheme
2019-2022 in order to allow formal adoption at Full Council on 20 February
2019.
Recommended to Council (Budget and policy framework):
(1) To adopt the Eastbourne Local Development Scheme 2019-2022 as set
out at appendix 1 to the report.
(2) That delegated authority be granted to the Director of Regeneration and
Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Place Services to make
minor and technical updates to timetables within the Local Development
Scheme where necessary.
Reasons for decisions:
(1) The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000 and the Council’s constitution identified that the adoption of
the Local Development Scheme was a function of Full Council.
(2) To ensure that the Local Development Scheme could be kept up to date
without needing to bring minor amendments back to Full Council.

64

Housing delivery programme
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and
Planning, providing an update on the Council’s capital development within the
housing revenue account. The report also detailed proposals for the Council’s
housing investment partnership, through Aspiration Homes LLP (AHLLP) and
the Eastbourne Housing Investment Company Ltd (EHICL) to invest in
commercial and affordable residential accommodation schemes to assist the
Council meeting its strategic housing agenda.

Page 8

6 February 2019

9

Cabinet

Councillors Tutt and Ungar declared a prejudicial interest in this item. They
both withdrew from the room whilst the item was considered. Councillor
Shuttleworth chaired the meeting for the duration of the item.
Resolved (Key decision):
(1) To agree that the Council makes a loan facility available of up to £2.5m on
market terms to AHLLP for the purpose of enabling the partnership to
purchase residential accommodation for affordable purposes under a
dedicated programme.
(2) To approve as a Restricted Matter under the LLP Agreement, the making
of a loan facility by Lewes District Council of up to £2.5m on market terms to
AHLLP for the purpose of enabling the partnership to purchase residential
accommodation for affordable purposes under a dedicated programme.
(3) To authorise the Assistant Director for Legal and Democratic Services to
ensure that a “Funding Agreement” pursuant to a “Deed of Entrustment” is
entered into by AHLLP with the Council so that Right to Buy (RTB) receipts
are appropriated in accordance with legislative requirements and the retention
agreement with Government in relation to “social housing”. To give delegated
authority to the Director of Regeneration and Planning to determine the terms
of such agreement(s).
(4) To delegate authority to the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the
Lead Cabinet members for Housing and Finance to agree the whole scheme
lending parameters for purchases for the programme outlined at resolution
(1).
(5) To delegate authority to the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the
Lead Cabinet members for Housing and Finance authority to approve any
draw down by EHICL from the £20m loan facility approved in the 2017/2021
Capital Programme (to the extent not already committed to other projects) for
investment in EHICL’s property portfolio, the delivery of new mixed tenure
homes and associated activities by EHICL and to delegate authority to the
Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Assistant Director - Legal &
Democratic Services to determine the terms of any loan to be offered to
EHICL provided always that the Chief Finance Officer is satisfied that:
(a) There will be adequate security for the loan
(b) There is a viable business case for the loan
(c) Any such loan is on market terms

Page 9

6 February 2019

10

Cabinet

Reasons for decisions:
(1) To effectively progress land and housing acquisition, investment and
larger scale development within the HRA to meet the Council’s wider strategic
aims and take advantage of new borrowing flexibilities.
(2) To improve access into the private rented sector (PRS) by providing
residential accommodation to assist the Council meet its wider strategic
housing agenda and increase the variety, availability and accessibility of
affordable housing and low cost home ownership.
(3) To generate additional income revenue streams to the Council through
strategic property investment.
(4) For AHLLP to use RTB receipts to fund new affordable housing the
necessary legal agreements need to be in place to allow this and these must
be used in accordance with the terms of our RTB receipt retention agreement.
65

Water and sewerage services
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and
Planning, seeking their approval for an additional one year Contract
Procedure Rule waiver to appoint Business Stream for supply of Water and
Sewerage Services.
Resolved (Non-key decision):
(1) To approve an additional one year waiver as per clause 2.4 of the contract
procedure rules to appoint Business Stream for the supply of water and
sewerage services.
(2) To approve the accountable officer to sign an additional one year waiver to
appoint Business Stream for supply of Water and Sewerage Services.
Reasons for decisions:
(1) Data was not yet available to enable an effective procurement exercise.
(2) A Water Regulator review was due in April 2020 which may reduce
wholesale costs.
(3) Potential for procurement exercise via Clear Sustainable Futures for all the
Councils Utilities.

Page 10

6 February 2019

66

11

Cabinet

Exclusion of the public
Resolved:
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting as otherwise
there was a likelihood of disclosure to them of exempt information as defined
in schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The relevant paragraph
of schedule 12A and a description of the exempt information was shown
below. (The requisite notice having been given under regulation 5 of the Local
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012.)

67

Community grants programme - small grants
The Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Regeneration and
Planning to agree the allocation of the small grants budget in Eastbourne for
the year 2019/20 and agree priorities for small grants in 2020/21.
Councillors Swansborough and Shuttleworth declared a personal interest in
this item. They remained in the room and took part in the discussion whilst the
item was considered.
Councillor Shuttleworth clarified that as a member of the Grants Task Group
that considered and granted the applications detailed in the exempt report, he
had withdrawn at the point they considered the application where he had a
personal interest.
Resolved (Key decision):
(1) To approve the allocation of the 2019/20 Small Grants budget set out in
paragraphs 2.2 to 2.7 of the exempt report.
(2) To agree a review of the allocation of current grants budgets between
Major and Housing Grants and Small Grants during 2019.
(3) To approve the priorities for Small Grants in 2020/21 as set out at
paragraph 2.9 of the exempt report.
(4) To approve the amendments to the Community and Housing Grants policy
set out at paragraphs 2.10 and 2.11 of the exempt report.
(5) To approve the proposals for allocating income from the Eastbourne
Lottery set out at paragraphs 2.13 to 2.15 of the exempt report and delegate
authority to the Director of Regeneration and Planning to make final decisions
on the allocation of this income in consultation with the Cabinet Member for
Direct Assistance Services.

Page 11

6 February 2019

12

Cabinet

Reason for decisions
To make best use of council resources supporting the local voluntary and
community activities.
Notes: (1) The report remained exempt. (2) Exempt information reason 3 –
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information).
68

Redundancy and redeployment
The Cabinet considered the report of the Assistant Director for Human
Resources and Transformation. The report set out the current activity within
the redundancy and redeployment procedure and actions taken to support
affected individuals.
Resolved (Key decision):
(1) That the actions taken to manage implications of change for displaced
individuals be noted.
(2) That the financial implications of severance for those identified in the event
that redeployment was not secured by the relevant date be agreed.
Reason for decision:
This was Phase 3 of the Joint Transformation Programme; actions had been
taken to manage the implications of this change for displaced individuals
through support, redeployment and assistance with self marketing under the
Redundancy and Redeployment Procedure
Notes: (1) The report remained exempt. (2) Exempt information reasons 1 and
2 – Information relating to an individual or likely to reveal the identity of an
individual.

The meeting ended at 7.05 pm

Councillor David Tutt (Chair)

Page 12

Agenda Item 7
Body:

Cabinet

Date:

20 March 2019

Subject:

Corporate Performance Q3 2018/19

Report of:

Chief Finance Officer
Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member:

Councillor Stephen Holt, Councillor Colin Swansborough

Ward(s):

All

Purpose of the
report:

To update Members on the Council’s performance against
Corporate Plan priority actions, performance indicators and
targets over Q3 2018/19 period.

Decision type:

Non Key

Recommendation:

Cabinet is recommended to :

Reasons for
recommendations:

i)

Note the achievements and progress against
Corporate Plan priorities for 2018/19, as set out in
Part A of this report.

ii)

Consider whether there are any particular aspects of
Council progress or performance that it wishes to
comment upon or consider further as part of its work
programme in 2018/19.

iii)

Agree the General Fund, HRA and Collection Fund
financial performance for the quarter ended
December 2018 as set out in part B of this report

iv)

Agree the virements and transfer to/from Reserves as
set out in Appendix 4

v)

Agree the amended capital programme as set out in
Appendix 5.

vi)

Agree the Treasury Management performance as set
out in section 5 in part B of the report

vii)

Approve the write offs as set out in the exempt
appendix.

To enable Cabinet members to consider specific aspects of
the Council’s progress and performance.

Page 13

Contact:

Jo Harper, Head of Business Strategy and Performance
Tel 01273 085049 or email :
jo.harper@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Millie McDevitt : Performance and Programmes Lead
Tel : 01273 085637 / 01323 415637 or email :
millie.mcdevitt@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Pauline Adams Head of Finance
Tel: 01323 415979 or email
Pauline.adams@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk

1.0

Consultation

1.1

The priority themes were developed in consultation with residents via the
Residents Survey and online Survey which were both conducted throughout July
and August 2015 and informed the development of the corporate plan.

2.0

Financial appraisal

2.1

Project and performance monitoring and reporting arrangements are contained
within existing estimates. Corporate performance information should also be
considered alongside the Council’s financial update as there is a clear link
between performance and budgets/resources.

2.2

All the financial implications are contained within the body of the report.

3.0

Legal implications

3.1

Comment from the Legal Services Team is not necessary for this routine
monitoring report.

4.0

Equality analysis

4.1

The equality implications of individual decisions relating to the projects/services
covered in this report are addressed within other relevant Council reports or as
part of programmed equality analysis. The equality implications of projects that
form part of the Joint Transformation Programme are addressed through
separate Equality and Fairness assessments.

5.0

Conclusion

5.1

This report provides an overview of performance against the authority’s priority
actions and indicators as at Quarter 3 2018/19.

5.2

Both the General Fund and HRA budgets are on target. Capital expenditure is in
line with expectations

5.3

The Collection Fund forecast for Council Tax is indicating a surplus of £0.4m
and a deficit for Business Rates of £1.8m. This will be allocated to or collected
from preceptors during 2019/20.

5.4

Treasury Management performance is on target and all activities were within the
approved Treasury and Prudential Limits, except for temporary balances
exceeding limits with Lloyds Bank.

Page 14

5.5

This reports seeks Cabinet approval for the write offs of irrecoverable debts in
excess of £5,000 totalling £116,388.83 where all other methods of recovery
have been unsuccessful and it is not deemed appropriate to pursue the debts
further

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Q1 Performance Overview
Appendix 2 – General Fund
Appendix 3 – Virements and transfer to/from Reserves
Appendix 4 – Housing Revenue Account
Appendix 5 – Capital Programme
Exempt Appendix – Write offs
Background Papers:
The Background Papers used in compiling this report were as follows:
 Corporate Plan 2016/20 http://www.eastbourne.gov.uk/about-the-council/councilpolicies-plans-and-strategies/corporate-strategies/

To inspect or obtain copies of background papers please refer to the contact officer listed
above.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Part A
Corporate Performance Q3 2018/19
1.0

Introduction

1.1

The performance of the Council is of interest to the whole community. People
expect high quality and good value for money services. Performance monitoring,
and a strong performance culture helps us to ensure we continue to deliver
excellent services and projects to our communities in line with planned targets.

1.2

This report sets out the Council’s performance against its targets and projects
for the third quarter of 2018/19 (1 October to 31 December 2018).

1.3

The Council has an annual cycle for the preparation, delivery and monitoring of
its corporate and service plans. This cycle enables us regularly to review the
Council’s work, and the targets it sets for performance, to ensure these continue
to reflect customer needs and Council aspirations.

2.0

Themes and Priority Visions

2.1

The Corporate Plan was developed with four themes to focus delivery of
improvement activity for the borough. Each of these themes had its own priority
vision for how the authority and its stakeholders wanted Eastbourne to develop.
Performance is measured against these themes and objectives.

3.0

2018/19 Q3 Performance Overview

3.1

Appendix 1 provides detailed information on progress and performance for
Members’ consideration, clearly setting out where performance and projects are
‘on track/on target’ and where there are areas of under-performance/concern.
Where performance or projects have not achieved target, an explanation is
provided, together with a summary of the management action that has been
taken to address this. The Appendix is structured around the key theme areas.

Page 17

3.2

The Council uses a Project and Performance Management System (Pentana formerly known as Covalent) to record, monitor and report progress and
performance. The system uses the following symbols to indicate the current
status of projects and performance targets:
Performance that is at or above target
Project is on track


Performance that is slightly below target but is within an agreed
(usually +/- 5%) tolerance
 Projects where there are issues causing significant delay or change
to planned activities
 Performance that is below target
 Projects that are not expected to be completed in time or within
requirements
Project has completed, been discontinued or is on hold

4.0

Summary of Progress and Performance – Q3 2018/19

4.1

Achievements:
There were a number of significant achievements to report including:




4.2

The Beacon: officially opened on 30 Nov with a number of retail units
trading. Since then, more units have opened.
Waste mobilisation: The new waste company South East Environmental
Services Ltd (SEESL) was incorporated in Q3.
Rough Sleeping initiative: This is a joint initiative with Hastings. The rough
sleepers assessment centre opened in Q3.

In Q3, 2 areas of the Council’s work missed their targets: housing (emergency
accommodation) and call handling. Whilst considering these, we should bear in
mind that external pressures (such as the national housing crisis and Universal
credit pressures) continue to affect the authority.
a)Housing: In November 2018 Shelter reported that 320,000 people were
estimated to be sleeping rough nationally – a 13,000 (or 4%) increase from last
year. Eastbourne is no exception to this and demand for housing and
homelessness services has never been so high. A plan has been developed by
the service which outlines how it will continue to deal with this over the coming
months and years.
Numbers in emergency accommodation (EA) were 192 at the end of Q3. This is
despite the continued efforts of the teams and as a result of which in this quarter
78 households were placed into EA and 35 were moved out of EA.
The average length of stay in EA has reduced to 9.5 months, down from 12

Page 18

months in Dec 17.
Our Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) was activated during this
quarter, on a number of occasions. SWEP provides emergency accommodation
for rough sleepers when the ‘feels like’ temperature drops to 0’c or less. 7
individuals were provided accommodation during the SWEP.
b) Calls: As previously reported, a number of interventions are taking place. As
a result, the call handling times and abandonment figures have both significantly
improved.
5.0

Community Ward Projects - Devolved Budget

5.1

The last section of Appendix 1 details the current devolved budget spend by
ward and the projects that have been supported through this scheme so far this
year.
Each ward has a total of £10,000 available to spend each year on schemes
requested by the local community.

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Eastbourne Borough Council Corporate Performance Report Q3 2018-19
1. Prosperous Economy
1.1 Prosperous Economy Key Performance Indicators
1.2 Prosperous Economy Projects & Programmes
2. Quality Environment
2.1 Quality Environment Key Performance Indicators
2.2 Quality Environment Projects & Programmes

Page 21

3. Thriving Communities
3.1 Thriving Communities Key Performance Indicators
3.2 Thriving Communities Projects & Programmes
4. Sustainable Performance
4.1 Sustainable Performance Key Performance Indicators
4.2 Sustainable Performance Projects & Programmes
Community Projects – Devolved Ward Budgets Q3
Key
Performance that is at or above target
Project is on track
Project has been completed, been discontinued or is on hold

Performance that is below target
Projects that are not expected to be completed in time or within requirements
Performance that is slightly below target but is within an acceptable tolerance
Projects : where there are issues causing significant delay, changes to planned activities, scale,
cost pressures or risks

Direction of travel on performance indicator : improving performance

Direction of travel on performance indicator : declining performance

Direction of travel on performance indicator : no change

Data with no performance target

CPR Ebn 1 Prosperous Economy 18-19

1.1 Prosperous Economy Key Performance Indicators

a Investing in housing and economic development
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
The following are being delivered by the Development Team:
12 units at Northbourne Road, 7 units at Fort Lane.

Page 22

Increase the number of affordable homes
delivered (gross)

30

0

0

0

0

0

0

The following are being delivered in conjunction with Clear
Futures : 9 units at 183 Langney Road, 8 units at Lanark
Court, 4 units at Timberley Road, 5 units at Biddenden Close
and 7 units at Brede Close.

b Providing opportunities for businesses to grow and invest
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Town centre vacant retail business space

Annual
Target
2018/19

7.1%

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
5.51%

7.1%

Q2 2018/19

5.66%

Q3 2018/19

7.1%

5.38%

c A great destination for tourism, arts, heritage and culture

2

7.1%

The vacancy rate for Eastbourne town centre has decreased
slightly from 5.66% in Q2 to 5.38% in Q3. This is below the
Springboard’s national vacancy rate reporting (10.1%).

Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Increase numbers of bandstand patrons

Annual
Target
2018/19

38,000

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19

18,446

8,000

Q2 2018/19

45,003

Q3 2018/19

Not
measur
ed

30,000

CPR Ebn 1.2 Prosperous Economy Projects &
Programmes 18-19

N/a

It was open to the public for the traditional Christmas and
New Year concerts which are free to the public and visitor
numbers are not used for the purposes of this PI which
records paying visitors.

1.2 Prosperous Economy Projects & Programmes

Page 23

a Supporting investment in infrastructure
Project / Initiative

Description

Significant improvements to the pedestrian
environment in Terminus Road and Cornfield
Town Centre Public Realm Improvements
Road to be delivered alongside the extension to
the Arndale. Joint Partnership Project with ESCC.

Target
completion
Q1 2019/20

Status

Update
Works have been progressing well. Wide footways and temporary crossing points were
provided in Terminus Road. A banner was erected outside The Beacon directing people to
Little Chelsea following a request from traders.

Extension to Arndale Shopping Centre
(The Beacon)

Led and financed by Legal & General. £85m
scheme : 22 new retail units, 7 restaurants & 9
screen cinema.

Q3 2018/19

Sovereign Centre Review

A new leisure centre

Q4 2019/20

A New Project Request (NPR) is due to be submitted to Clear Sustainable Futures in Q4
whilst supporting the design development process in collaboration with the architects. The
planning consultation is due to be held in quarter 4.

Q4 2018/19

All legal documents have been signed by the interested parties. The disabled parking bays
have been provided and the keys have been handed over. Final snagging is due to be
completed by shortly.

Delivery of Community Centre to serve the EBC working with Sea Change Sussex to deliver a
Sovereign Harbour Neighbourhood
Community Centre at Sovereign Harbour

3

The Beacon was officially opened on 30 November when a number of retail units began
trading. Since then further units have opened including Nandos.

Project / Initiative

Bedfordwell Road - EBC New Build
Housing

Description

Target
completion

One project within the Housing and Economic
Development Programme to deliver refurbished
and redeveloped housing within the Borough.

Status

Update
Plans are progressing and the majority of the decontamination is complete. Initial
environmental surveys have been completed. Final reptile relocation to be undertaken in the
summer. Surveys have also taken place of the pump house in readiness for wind and water
tightness work.

Q1 2025/26

The site has also assisted with the town centre improvement works and there is
collaboration with the East Sussex College group construction course .

b Providing opportunities for businesses to grow and invest
Target
completion

Page 24

Project / Initiative

Description

Sovereign Harbour Innovation Park
(SHIP)

New contemporary business premises at
Sovereign Harbour Innovation Park

Q4 2021/22

Hampden Retail Park

The acquisition and development of Hampden
Retail Park as part of the Property Acquisition and
Investment Strategy (PAIS).

Q2 2019/20

Status

Update
Occupancy of Pacific House remains at 80%. Discussions with Sea Change Sussex relating
to Phase 2 of the SHIP are ongoing.

Final details are being worked up for planning agreement, at which point construction works
will commence on site. A detailed timetable is being finalised for the development which will
result in a modernised retail park which will include new units and parking).

c A great destination for tourism, arts, heritage and culture
Target
completion

Project / Initiative

Description

Refurbish the Redoubt Fortress

Restoration of the fort - Create a new entrance, lift
access, opening of remaining casements,
environmental improvements.

Q4 2019/20

Planning is still progressing well for the refurbishment and building works that will enable
improved access and increased use of the Redoubt.
Discussions are on-going about future uses for the building and a longer term strategic
plan. Building works are due to commence in mid-2019.
The Redoubt will open for weekend 'Hard-Hat' tours and events/hires from 26 March 2019.

Wish Tower Restaurant

Scheme to deliver a flagship restaurant

Q1 2019/20

Work on-going on site; foundations almost complete. The project is progressing well and
handover to Bistrot Pierre (who will be recruiting from the local market) is on target.

New Museum

A purpose built museum on the site of the Pavilion,
which will house the story of Eastbourne, with a
cafe, shop and education facilities.

Q4 2019/20

Museum construction works are almost complete including the new shop front. Official
handover to EBC took place in January 2019.

Devonshire Park Redevelopment

Significant investment to establish Devonshire
Park as a premier conference and cultural

Q3 2020/21

4

Status

Update

Welcome Building: Watertight integrity achieved. Internal fit out underway. Lifts installed.

Project / Initiative

Description

Target
completion

destination to include: New welcome building:
Restoration of Congress, Winter Garden and
Devonshire Park Theatres: Improving
Accessibility: Improving tennis facilities: New
Conference/exhibition Space & Cafe: Public realm
improvements

Status

Update
Congress: Expected completion pre-24 March 2019. Auditorium area progressing well. Cork
flooring commenced. M&E installation progressing well. Decoration and finishing FOH and
BOH on-going. Heating is on.
Racquet Court: Storage approach agreed and roof work complete.
Winter Garden: preferred contractor identified. West facade and western apse work
underway. Reviewing kitchen proposal/options. Lift pit completed.
Tennis: New practice courts to commence Feb 2019; enabling work complete (drainage
installed and depot area resurfaced to base level).
General: Remobilisation underway. IT equipment (cctv and wifi) on order and fibre to
Congress installation imminent. Highways and public realm work proceeding well.

Page 25
5

CPR Ebn 2 Quality Environment 18-19

2.1 Quality Environment Key Performance Indicators

a High Quality Built Environment
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Increase the percentage of Major Planning
Applications processed within 13 weeks

Page 26

Increase the percentage of minor planning
applications processed within 8 weeks

Annual
Target
2018/19

65%

75%

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
100%

73%

65%

75%

Q2 2018/19

100%

74%

Q3 2018/19

65%

100%

75%

72%

65%

75%

Performance remains above target for Q3. One major
planning application processed within 13 weeks during this
quarter.
49 out of 68 minor planning applications were processed
within 8 weeks. Q3 performance is consistent with previous
quarters but remains slightly under the target of 75%.
Performance in Q4 is expected to increase and result in
above target annual performance.

Increase the percentage of other planning
applications processed within 8 weeks

32 out of 46 other planning applications were processed
within 8 weeks during Q3.
75%

73%

75%

78%

75%

70%

75%
Whilst performance did not hit the target for Q3, overall
annual out-turn is still on track.

6

b A clean and attractive town
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Page 27

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
There were 153 reported cases of fly-tipping in Eastbourne in
Q3.

Decrease the number of reported fly-tipping
incidents

600

102

150

130

150

153

7

150

There were no specific hot spot areas although the town
centre multi occupancy areas were the main contributors. The
majority of the fly tips consisted of household domestic waste
with white goods, mattresses, sofas and items of furniture
featuring highly.
The Neighbourhood First team continue to tackle fly-tipping
with the use of recording cameras, education campaigns and
enforcement. In Q3 the team issued 4 Fixed penalty Notices
after successful investigations and still are on target to meet
the annual number.

c Less waste and low carbon town
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Increase the percentage of household
waste sent for reuse, recycling and
composting

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
Data was only received in mid February and is being verified.

36.00%

37.40% 36.00%

34.86% 36.00%

Page 28

CPR Ebn 2.2 Quality Environment Projects and
Programmes 18-19

TBC

36.00%

When waste is collected by the new local authority controlled
company, we should be able to provide faster reporting.

2.2 Quality Environment Projects and Programmes

a High Quality Built Environment
Title

Description

Conservation area appraisals

This relates to the Seafront & Town Centre
Conservation area.
Project to appraise Eastbourne’s conservation areas.
Every 5-10 years a conservation area appraisal is
required to audit the heritage value of the
conservation area. This audit will identify areas of the
Conservation Area that have retained heritage value
and areas that are showing signals of decline, along
with an assessment of whether the boundary/extent
of the conservation area should be
retained/extended/reduced.

Target Completion

Status

Update
The Town Centre and Seafront Conservation Area assessment
has concluded. Officers are assessing the implications of fully
adopting the recommendations of the report around extending the
areas of coverage.

31-Mar-2019
The College Conservation Area Appraisal has concluded and
officers are seeking Member support (February Planning Committee)
to go out to public consultation on the findings of the assessment.

8

b Excellent parks and open spaces
Project / Initiative

Description

Eastbourne Park Initiatives

Delivery of priority initiatives identified in the
Eastbourne Park Supplementary Planning
Document including conservation and
enhancement of the existing environmental,
ecological and archaeological characteristics of
Eastbourne Park for future generations. Sensitive
management of the area to provide appropriate
leisure and recreational uses.

Target
completion

Status

Update

The planned improvements for 18/19 have been completed. The working group is currently
planning future work.

Q4 2019/20

c Less waste and a low carbon town
Page 29

Project / Initiative

Description

Clear Futures: Joint Venture for Energy
and Sustainability

A joint venture between Eastbourne and Lewes
Council and a private sector organisation to deliver
local energy and sustainability ambitions for the
next 20-30 years. The Joint Venture will follow a
programme of work.

Target
completion

Q1 2037/38

Status

Update
There are roughly 20 projects that are being progressed through the Joint Venture for Lewes
and Eastbourne Councils. These are at various stages of development and new participants
have joined.

The project is now complete and has been successful in achieving the following objectives.

The use of SUPs in council offices, in relation to day to day activity reduced by 94%.

During their working day, members and officers reduced usage of SUPs (e.g. plastic
lined coffee cups, stirrers and carrier bags) by 93%.
Single use plastic (SUPs) reduction in
council offices

Project aiming to reduce the amount of single use
plastic items used in offices in LDC and EBC.

Q4 2018/19

Waste mobilisation programme overarching

Programme to establish a Local Authority
Controlled Company (LACC) to manage waste

Q4 2020/21

9

Further details from the surveys:

Knowledge of single-use plastic : 83% in June which increased to 90% in December.
Two thirds of respondents heard about SUPs and the issues surrounding them from
internal council communications e.g. The Hub, Hub News, posters around the
buildings.

An increase in the number of respondents advising they are no longer using take-away
coffee cups, disposable cutlery, drinking straws, plastic bottles, cups or stirrers.
The officer programme board has met regularly through Q3 to track related work streams.
Good progress has been made in terms of negotiations on depot facilities; new fleet

Project / Initiative

Description

Target
completion

services at EBC.

Status

Update
procurement; and IT systems for the new waste service.
The new waste company, South East Environmental Services Limited (SEESL) was
incorporated in Q3 and the first meeting of the Board of Directors held on 24 October 2018.
The company is on track to start taking waste from 1 July.

Page 30
10

CPR Ebn 3 Thriving Communities 18-19

3.1 Thriving Communities Key Performance Indicators

a Improved Health and wellbeing
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Page 31

DFGs - Time taken from council receiving a
fully complete application to the council
approving the grant

Annual
Target
2018/19

28 days

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19

56
days

28
days

Q2 2018/19

4 days

Q3 2018/19

28
days

28
days

3 days

The improvement over the quarters reflects a tighter control
of the processes under the authority’s control.
The average time taken for the completed adaptations was
75 days (against a 100 day target).
Occupational Therapists (OT) will start working within the
Council from mid-February. The entire DFG process (target
100 days) will then be even more streamlined and enables a
more holistic way of working with our disabled customers.

b Meeting Housing Needs
Q1 2018/19
KPI Description

Number of Licensed HMO’s Inspected per
Quarter

Annual
Target
2018/19

50

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Value Target Status Value Target Status

46

12.5

38

12.5

Value

25

11

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19

12.5

New HMO legislation came in on 1 October 2018, removing the
requirement of a licensable HMO to be 3 storeys or above. In
anticipation of this we started inspecting the HMOs we knew
would require a licence. Because of this legislation there has
been an influx of applications which will continue for the next
couple for months before the inspection rates return to average
levels.

Q1 2018/19
KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Value Target Status Value Target Status

Value

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
In November 2018 Shelter reported that 320,000 people were
estimated to be sleeping rough nationally – a 13,000 (or 4%)
increase from last year. Eastbourne is no exception to this and
demand for housing and homelessness services has never been
so high.
By the end of Q3 there 192 households in Emergency
Accommodation (EA). During this quarter 78 households were
placed into EA and 35 households were taken out of EA.

Number of households living in emergency
(nightly paid) accommodation

80

153

80

151

80

192

80

Page 32

In this quarter the average length of stay in EA has reduced to
9.5 months, down from 12 months in Dec 17. The average gross
cost per placement has also reduced from £9,500 to £6,200.
Nevertheless it is having a considerable impact on in-year budget
pressures.
Our Severe Weather Emergency Protocols (SWEP) was also
activated during this quarter, on a number of occasions. SWEP
provides emergency accommodation for rough sleepers when
the ‘feels like’ temperature drops to 0’c or less. 7 individuals were
provided emergency accommodation during the SWEP.
The Housing Needs team have also developed a business plan
which outlines how the service will continue to deal with these
national changes over the coming months and years.

Satisfaction with housing services

75%

86%

75%

88%

75%

88%

75%

Rent arrears of current tenants (as a
percentage of all rent)

3%

2.68%

3%

2.8%

3%

2.99%

3%

Rent arrears are currently being managed within an acceptable
level given the wider economic context.
Total of 15 properties re-let: includes 1 exceptional void.
Average re-let for minor voids was 21 days.

Average void relet time key to key

24.0

24.4

24.0

23.6

24.0

24.6

12

24.0

Neighbourhood Management have put further monitoring
measures in place to put greater scrutiny on the voids. We are
also exploring additional ways to let hard-to-let properties.

c Putting the Customer First
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19

Page 33

Revs and Bens: Average days to process
new claims

23

26

23

25

23

18

23

Performance in Q3 was above our target of 23 days.

Revs and Bens: Average days to process
changes

8

11

8

10

8

8

8

Performance is now on target following intensive
improvement measures.

Number of new sign-ups to the Councils'
social media channels

600

592

150

454

150

896

150

This is a joint target with Lewes District Council.
For the week beginning 17 Dec, average speed of answering
was 59 seconds, longest average wait time 1min 20s.
Although this is red, In Q3 the average answering time was
1min 46 sec which shows a significant improvement and we
are on track to be within target.

Increase the percentage of calls to the
contact centre answered within 60 seconds
- Ebn

80%

27.69%

80%

27.65%

80%

50.49%

80%

The Customer Advisors have been working hard on improving
the performance during December with the percentage of
calls answered within 60seconds increasing compared to
November. The percentage of calls answered for the Quarter
has also gone up from 27.65% in Q2 to 50.49% for Q3 which
is a vast improvement. The last recruitment event that took
place in December filled all our vacancies with the remaining
7 due to start in January/early February where they will start
with the 2 weeks class room based training; which has shown
to be effective in speeding up the training process overall.
Performance Improvement Plan: Queue busting continues
to take place to assist with answering calls within 60 seconds,
with additional phone support being provided by back office
teams. Although the need for this back office support has
started to reduce, it is allowing calls to be answered quickly
with a greater amount of staff being available to deal with

13

Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
queries efficiently and at first point of contact. The improved
way of working that started back in October has continued to
result in stats improving week on week. The additional
support has also continued to allow Customer Advisors to
concentrate on the training of the new starters who are all
now taking calls in addition to those that also joined us in
November. With our vacancies now full and new members
joining us over the coming weeks, further improvement on the
percentage of calls answered within 60seconds is expected.
Latest position: By the end of the quarter, this target had
been reached with 4.9% of calls being abandoned.

Page 34

Oct to Dec commentary for Q3: The Customer Advisors
have been working hard on improving the performance during
December with the number of abandoned calls decreasing for
the month of December when compared to November. The
percentage of abandoned calls for the Quarter has also gone
down from 29.24% in Q2 to 10.78% for Q3 which is a huge
improvement. The last recruitment event that took place in
December filled all our vacancies with the remaining 7 due to
start in January/early February where they will start with the 2
weeks class room based training; which has shown to be
effective in speeding up the training process overall.
Reduce the numbers of abandoned calls to
the contact centre - Ebn

5%

31.16%

5%

29.24%

5%

10.78%

14

5%

Performance Improvement Plan: Queue busting continues
to take place to assist with reducing the amount of
abandoned calls, with additional phone support being
provided by back office teams. Although the need for this
back office support has started to reduce, it is allowing calls to
be answered quickly with a greater amount of staff being
available to deal with queries efficiently and at first point of
contact. The improved way of working that started back in
October has continued to result in stats improving week on
week. The additional support has also continued to allow
Customer Advisors to concentrate on the training of the new
starters who are all now taking calls in addition to those that
also joined us in November. With our vacancies now full and
new members joining us over the coming weeks, further
improvement on reducing the number of abandoned calls is
expected.

Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Number of people registering for our email
service (GovDelivery)

Annual
Target
2018/19

4,000

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19

5,310

1,000

Q2 2018/19

1,158

Q3 2018/19

1,000

1,290

1,000

The number of registrations is influenced by a number of
factors such as ongoing consultations. During Q3 we had
consultations on the taxi licensing policy and gambling policy.
The number also includes customers setting up a ‘My
Account’ and opting in for email alerts.

d Keeping Crime and anti-social behaviour low
Q1 2018/19

Page 35

KPI Description

Improve our ranking compared to similar
authorities in relation to all crime Eastbourne

Annual
Target
2018/19

5

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19
1

5

Q2 2018/19

1

Q3 2018/19

5

1

n

15

5

Eastbourne has maintained its ranking as the lowest area for
crime compared with other areas in its ‘most similar.

n

CPR Ebn 3.2 Thriving Communities Projects and
Programmes 18-19

2.2 Thriving Communities Projects and Programmes

Page 36

Meeting housing need
Project / Initiative

Description

Target
completion

Status

Update
Clear Futures are now overseeing Bedfordwell Road in conjunction with the internal project
team. Surveys carried out for progressing the Pump House wind and water tight
works. Remediation works are partially complete and the borehole in the Pump House has
now been filled.

Housing Development Programme

Deliver an ambitious programme of housing
development and refurbishment that provides
homes and makes a positive contribution to
Eastbourne's economic future

Q4 2019/20

Northbourne Road development of 12 new homes is progressing well.
Clear Futures are engaged for the infill sites (garage) project with183a-c Langney Rd being
included in this programme of works. Design and preparation works are underway. Garages
are being emptied ready for surveys.
Fort Lane final contractual negotiations underway.
Wind and watertight works at Victoria Mansions have commenced. These are being
overseen in conjunction with Clear Futures.

Homelessness Pressures and Rough
Sleeping Project

Reduce homelessness.

Q4 2019/20

16

Homelessness Pressures Project update

Project / Initiative

Description

Target
completion

Status

Update
Homelessness Pressures Project (HPP) - designed to help reduce the pressures on our
homelessness service - came to an end in October.
The project successfully delivered on a number of work-streams, including setting up a
triage service, launching a landlord incentive scheme, establishing a Trainee Caseworker
Programme and purchasing a number of properties for households in EA.
Rough Sleeping Initiative
The assessment centre for the Rough Sleeping Initiative opened this quarter. It assisted a
number of rough sleepers through a combination of rent in advance loans and temporary
accommodation placements.
The numbers of verified rough sleepers in Eastbourne were 47 in October, 9 in November
and 6 in December
Since October ‘18, 11 clients were supported into temporary accommodation, 3 into private
rental properties, 1 into specialist accommodation and 2 helped through non-housing
interventions.

Page 37
c Resilient & engaged communities
Project / Initiative

Description

Welfare Reform (Universal Credit)

To support those vulnerable residents affected by
the government's welfare reform programme.

Target
completion

Q4 2019/20

17

Status

Update
The managed migration of in Eastbourne is taking place but will not impact on Eastbourne’s
claimants until 2020 at the earliest, and the team continue to monitor and adapt to aspects
of the welfare reform act still to be implemented.

CPR Ebn 4 Sustainable Performance 18-19

4.1 Sustainable Performance Key Performance Indicators

4.1 Sustainable Performance Key Performance Indicators

a Delivering a balanced budget
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Page 38

Direction
of travel
between
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value Target Status Value Target Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
18/19

Percentage of Council Tax collected during
the year - Eastbourne

97.06%

28.75% 29.19%

55.53% 56.13%

82.44% 83.16%

The collection rate is 0.72% below the target. There was a
change in the summons timetable so although there was a
dip in Q3 this will be recovered in Q4.

Percentage of Business Rates collected
during the year - Eastbourne

98.50%

29.53% 29.90%

54.78% 54.72%

81.10% 80.38%

O.72% above of profiled target.

b Managing our people & performance
Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Average days lost per FTE employee due to
sickness

8.0 days

Direction
of travel
between
Cumul
Cumul
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value ative Status Value ative Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
Target
Target
18/19

1.62
days

2.0
days

Q2 2018/19

3.73
days

Q3 2018/19

4.0
days

6.49

18

6.0
days

This is the third quarter of reporting average days lost due to
sickness for our entire staff group. In Q3 the average days
lost per FTE was 2.76 which represents a slight increase
from the same period last year which was 2.37, and is the
highest quarterly figure so far this year (which was predicted

Q1 2018/19

KPI Description

Annual
Target
2018/19

Q2 2018/19

Q3 2018/19

Direction
of travel
between
Cumul
Cumul
Latest Note
Value Target Status Value ative Status Value ative Status Q2 18/19
and Q3
Target
Target
18/19
given we are in the winter months). Only 3 employees were
off for the whole of Q3 which is a decrease from Q1.
The total days lost for Q1, 2 and 3 is 6.49 It is possible we will
exceed the annual target of 8 days given Q4 absence tends
to be similar to Q3, however the HR team are monitoring
absences closely to ensure they are being appropriately
managed.
If we remove LDC Waste Services, the Q3 figure reduces to
2.35 and Waste Services on its own is 5.21 days for Q3.

Page 39

CPR Ebn 4.2 Sustainable Performance Projects
and Programmes 18-19

4.2 Sustainable Performance Projects and Programmes

Delivering in partnership
Project / Initiative

Description

Joint Transformation Programme

A major programme to integrate the Eastbourne
Borough Council and Lewes District Council
workforces, and transform the service delivery
model for both organisations. Deliver £2.7m
savings while protecting services

Target
completion

Q4 2019/20

19

Status

Update
The primary focus over the last quarter has been the final preparations for and the
implementation of the new Housing system which went live week commencing 3 December
2018. Within the overall JTP, this piece of work has been, by far, the most challenging and
complex of all the activities and colleagues across the councils worked incredibly hard to
deliver this on time and to the required standard. The initial assessment is that the system
was implemented effectively and the volume and severity of the issues being identified are
not of the scale that could have been anticipated. Colleagues are working to resolve the

Project / Initiative

Description

Target
completion

Status

Update
issues that have been identified to ensure the full benefits of the system are realised.
The JTP Phase 3 consultations and plans have progressed well since they were launched
on 9 November 2018. The ICT consultation has concluded and the changes have been
implemented and the consultation for Corporate Property will launch early in 2019.
The teams working on delivering the aims of the JTP continue to listen and respond to
feedback - mainly in relation to the joint website and the availability of staff on the phones.
The Supporting Change Steering Group is driving this continuous improvement and the
commitment is to ensure that all feedback is assessed and, where necessary, action is
taken. Specific issues relating to the accessibility of documents for Planning applications
have been identified within the Quarter and targeted action has taken place to resolve these.
The JTP tackles the same challenges and risks that all change management programmes of
this scale and ambition face. Delivery of the transformation is being managed within budget
and the £2.8m of savings for JTP Phases 1 and 2 have been achieved and the planned
£400,000 of savings/additional income for Phase 3 are on target to be delivered.

Page 40
20

Devolved Budgets 2018/19: Q3 October-December 2018

Project

Description

Project Spend to Date

Devonshire

Trees in Cavendish Place

To plant four trees in Cavendish Place at the
request of residents.

£1,000.00

Chinese New Year Celebrations

Working with the Eastbourne Chinese
£2,500.00
Association, Eastbourne Chamber of
Commerce, the Eastbourne Schools
Partnership, Devonshire West Big Local and
the Eastbourne Hospitality Association to run a
Chinese New Year event in Eastbourne town
centre.

Defibrillator at Bourne School

To procure a Public Access Defibrillator (PAD), £1,062.00
to be installed at Bourne School to provide lifesaving emergency equipment that is accessible
to the community, 24 hours a day.

Community Stuff

Printing of new cookery book and empty
cupboard plan.

£300.00

Sea Cadets

Disabled toilets for the Sea Cadets
headquarters, following recent changes to the
building.

£1,000.00

Christchurch

Contribution towards cost of flooring work for
the church hall. The hall is used by a wide
variety of community groups and the floor
needs to be fit for purpose.

£1,000.00

Page 41

Ward

Total spend
Hampden Park

£6,862.00
Hampden Park Crossing Signage

To provide ‘no idling’ signs for Hampden Park
level crossing.

Total spend
Langney

£112.50
£112.50

Stix Drummers

To assist with the funding of the Stix Drummers £200.00
Shinewater Fun Day event.

Shinewater Primary School Banner

To provide a safety banner, to deter parking on £200.00
school zig zag lines, to be displayed outside

21

Ward

Project

Description

Project Spend to Date

Shinewater Primary School, Milfoil Drive.
Meadows Nursery Defibrillators

Public access defibrillator at Meadows
Nursery, Rotherfield Avenue, Langney
To site a 24 hour defibrillator cabinet and
defibrillator in the heart of a residential area.

Total spend
Meads

£1,650.00
Linking Lives

To enable volunteers to be matched with
people who would benefit from a befriending
service. Similar projects can be found
throughout the UK.

£500.00

Little Chelsea

Various marketing expenditures to help Little
Chelsea traders during town centre disruption
over Christmas.

£428.00

Total spend

Page 42

Old Town

£928.00
Old Town Library

To purchase three new sets of tables and
chairs for the library.

£569.97

Motcombe Park Dig (2nd Phase)

The project is to explore and gain a further
understanding of the history of Motcombe
Gardens. The project will involve local
residents.

£4,000.00

Defibrillators for Eastbourne

The project aims to procure a Public Access
£1,500.00
Defibrillator (PAD), to be installed at the Out
Side of Upwyke House Green Street, Old Town
and of another suitable site in Old Town to
provide life-saving emergency equipment that
is accessible to the community, 24 hours a
day.

Trees within the Ward

To plant two trees in the Claxton Close and
Pockocks Road intersection.

Total spend
Ratton

£6,069.97

Total spend
St Anthony's

£1,250.00

£500.00
£500.00

Langney Community Library

To provide a contribution to the set up costs of £1,000.00
Langney Community Library.

Youth Radio

To assist with the cost of hosting Eastbourne
Youth Radio (EYR)– Roselands Infant School

22

£378.00

Ward

Project

Description

Project Spend to Date

programme, Wednesday 14th November at
1pm.
The Priory

Project will introduce a new community
resource into the town.

Total spend

£2,750.00
£4,128.00

Sovereign
Total spend
Upperton

£0.00
Eastbourne Bowling Club

To assist with the purchase of a storage unit.

£2,000.00

Page 43

Total spend

£2,000.00

All wards total spend

£22,250.47

Number of schemes

20

23

This page is intentionally left blank

Financial Performance Monitoring Report
Part B
Quarter 3
Period Ending December 2018

1

Page 45

1.0

General Fund

1.1

General Fund performance of the quarter is shown in the table below:
Department

Full
Year
Budget

Profiled
Budget

£'000

£'000

Actual
to 30th
DEC
2018
£'000

Varianc
e to
date

Outturn

£'000

£'000

SUMMARY
Corporate Services

3,319

4,850

4,613

(237)

(333)

Service Delivery

4,143

5,398

5,844

446

(348)

376

808

1,038

230

331

Tourism & Enterprise Services

3,271

2,208

2,405

197

309

Contingencies, etc

(332)

(249)

-

249

333

10,777

13,015

13,900

885

292

2,063

890

515

(375)

(500)

Regeneration, Planning & Assets

Total Service Expenditure
Capital Financing and Interest
Contributions to/(from) Reserves
Net Expenditure

656

342

-

(342)

278

13,496

14,247

14,415

168

70

Service Details are shown at Appendix 2.

1.2

The position at the end of December shows a negative variance of £168k on net
expenditure which is a movement of £204k compared to the position reported at the
end of the second quarter in September.
Forecast net expenditure as at 31.3.19 shows a favourable variance of £70k. The key
movements are:
Net deficit on Bed and Breakfast Housing Benefit costs
Savings target for transitional posts to be delivered in 2019
Housing Needs and Standards – additional Staffing costs
Customer Contact Team – additional Staffing costs
Crematorium – Income shortfall
Bandstand - income over target
Building Control - reduced contract fee
Reduction in capital financing
Additional revenue funding

£343k
£249k
£165k
£110k
£43k
(£124k)
(£36k)
(£500k)
(£250k)

The contingency currently stands at £89k which is available to fund one off areas of
expenditure during the year. This is likely to be utilised to fund any overall outturn
variance.

1.4

Corporate Management Team (CMT) will be closely monitoring the expenditure and will
be taking remedial action to ensure that expenditure is contained within the bottom line
budget figure.

1.5

Members approval is sought for the transfer from reserves and virements (budget
transfers) over £10,000 as set out in Appendix 3. These transfers are in line with the
approved financial strategy

Page 46

2.0

HRA

2.1

HRA performance of the quarter is as follows:

HRA
Income
Expenditure
Capital Financing & Interest
Contribution to Reserves
Total HRA

Full
Year
Budget

Profiled
Budget

£'000

£'000

Actual
to 31
Dec
2018
£'000

(15,357)
12,788
1,925
500
(144)

(11,891)
5,845

(11,909)
5,915

(6,046)

(5,994)

Varianc
e to
date

Project
ed
Outturn

£'000

£'000

(18)
70
52

(18)
70
52

There is a negative variance of £52k.This is largely due to underspend on the
Occupation Transfer Scheme and an adjustment in respect of insurance settlements. A
further breakdown of the HRA is shown at Appendix 4.

3.0

Capital Expenditure

3.1`

The detailed capital programme at Appendix 5, provides a summary of spend for
quarter 3 compared to the revised allocation for 2018-19 and the total spend for each
scheme as at end of December. The 2018-19 allocation has been revised to allow
some re-profiling of schemes between 2018-19 and 2019-20. Brief comments are
provided for each scheme and more detailed comments are provided below for larger
schemes.

3.2

The Capital Programme for 2018-19 totals £55.9m compared to original Capital
Programme approved in February 2018 of £50.4m. The changes to the Capital
Programme are shown in the table below.
Summary of Capital Programme 2018/19
Original Approved Budget at 7.2.18
HRA - Fort Lane increase
Re-profiled between years
EHIC Revolving Credit
Devonshire Park
Year end re-profiling
DFG allocated to SHCC
Bedfordwell Road - Pump House
West Langney Gates & Signs
EHIC - Loan Facility
Waste Fleet
Crematorium Improvements (Main Chapel)
JTP Allocation agreed Cabinet October 18
Re-profiling mid -year
RTB receipts applied 2017-18 for AH
Devonshire Park Theatre - Toilet Refurbishment
Current Programme

2018-19
£'000
50,394
102
34,522
65
4,360
456
(400)
3,000
18
2,500
1,600
50
1,400
(41,943)
(353)
103
55,874

Page 47

3.3

Detailed comments on larger schemes:
Line
No. ref Comment
CP
7
New Build Phase 2 – Sumach Close is complete. The scheme for Fort Lane
is due to go out to tender.
15

DFGs - It anticipated that the total spend on adaptations will be in the region
of 700k. A further 125k will be spent on the Occupational Therapist (OT)
integration project in 18/19 and again in 19/20 with the intention to extend to
20/21 in line with the Better Care Fund. This project will Integrate OT’s into
the Council, to focus on the prevention agenda that cuts across housing,
social care and inclusion and community healthcare. It will aim to provide a
less bureaucratic and more efficient offer to the local population in relation
to DFG’s, minor adaptations; provision of equipment and Telecare and
assessments for Housing Options.
Additionally a new discretionary policy is being written for 2018-2020 for
DFG’s to deliver a greater range of financial assistance, including fast track
hospital discharge and adapted Temporary Accommodation.

20

Beach recharge works started on 26th October but due to stormy weather
the operation had to be abandoned with only 60% of the shingle delivered.
Extra shingle was recycled along the frontage to partly compensate for the
shortfall and the work completed before Christmas. However, this meant
that the final cost this year is only around £250,000. As this scheme is
approved by the E.A. with funding up to 2021 this years allocated funding
can be carried forward to make up the shortfall in shingle quantity from this
year.

23

Works in Terminus Road (east and west), Cornfield Road and Gildredge
Road are progressing well. £50k of this budget was set aside to deliver a
Wayfinding Strategy for the Town Centre. Sites for all signs have been
agreed and signs for first section of Town Centre Improvement Scheme
have been manufactured and are expected to be installed in June/July
when the public realm works are completed. It is likely that this spend will
need to be re-profiled to 2019/20.

24

Construction work is complete and keys have been handed over. Some
minor internal and external snagging to be completed

64

IT – Block Allocation – On target to complete in 2018-19. Allocations for
2019-20 & 2020-21 have been re-profiled to 2018-19 due to high cyclical
spend on new laptops.

69

EHIC Loans (Properties purchased from EBC) - Agreed facility of £4,173k
to provide loans to purchase EBC properties. Two loans totalling £980k
have been agreed of which £955k has been drawn down. The remaining
facility of £2,958k is available for other properties to be identified. A loan of
£235k relating to Northbourne Road was drawn down and subsequently
repaid.
EHIC loans (Properties purchased on the open market) - Agreed facility of
£15m to provide loans to purchase private properties. 25 loans totalling

70

Page 48

£4,425k have been agreed of which £2,847k has been drawn down. The
remaining facility of £10,575k is available for other properties. This facility is
currently allocated to various years. One loan for £365k has now been
repaid.
74

Aspiration Homes LLP Loan – Agreed a facility of £10m to provide loans to
build and refurbish properties. Two facilities totalling £4,524k have been
approved and £1,286k has been drawn down. There is a remaining facility
of £5,476k

75

Bedfordwell Road – CSF are progressing a revised scheme layout with
expected start on site Spring 2020. Well filling works in the Pump House are
complete. Remaining remediation will re-commence from July once Mildren
have left the site and to align with ecology works.

76

Hampden Retail Park Refurbishment – project is underway and the
construction contractor has been appointed. The scheme has now had
planning consent and to works are planned to commence in Q4.

78

JTP Programme - This scheme is the subject of regular update reports to
Cabinet. Additional allocation of £1.4m was agreed by Cabinet on 24.10.18;
£700k relates to Eastbourne and £700k relates to Lewes.

81

Devonshire Park Development. The scheme is moving to completion with
The Locker Room and bulk of the tennis court works complete. The
Congress Theatre and associated landscaping will reopen in March 2019,
followed soon after by the Welcome Building. The works to the Winter
Garden will commence in 2019 and are currently anticipated to take some
9-12 months depending on the final scope.

95

Wish Tower Restaurant – work started at the end of 2018 and is
progressing well. Expected completion for shell of the building is May 2019
and this will be followed by fit out by Bistro Pierre.

4.0

Collection Fund

4.1

The Collection Fund records all the income from Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates
and its allocation to precepting authorities.
The Collection fund for the year is as follows:

Balance B/fwd 1.4.18
(Deficit recovery)/Surplus distributed
Debit due for year
Payments to preceptors
Allowance for cost of collection
Transitional Relief
Allowance for appeals
Write offs and provision for bad debts
Estimated balance 31.3.19
Allocated to:
CLG
East Sussex County Council
Eastbourne Borough Council
Sussex Police
East Sussex Fire & Rescue

322
(381)

Business
Rates
£'000
3,522
(2,969)
(35,032)
36,314
129
(43)
157
(250)
1,828

(281)
(48)
49
(33)
(18)

914
165
731
18

Council Tax
£'000
(1,267)
1,378
(65,733)
64,919

Page

4.3

The allocation to preceptors reflects the operation of the Collection Fund for Council
Tax and Business Rates which are distributed on different bases under regulations. The
distributions for the estimated balance calculated at quarter 3 will be made in 2018/20.
Any changes in quarter 4 will be made in 2020/21.

4.4

Council Tax performance is predicted to be a £0.4m surplus for the year. As the aim of
the collection fund is to break even the surplus represents an overachievement of
£0.5m for the year. This is due to the result of a combination of factors including better
performance against the collection allowance forecast within the Council Tax base. The
estimated balance as at 31.3.19 represents 0.6% of the gross debit.

4.5

The predicted Business Rate deficit of £1.8m for the year represents an in year
underachievement from business rate income of £1.3m. There continues to be a
significant risk associated with business rate income, with more than 117 appeals still
outstanding against the 2010 rating list remaining to be settled with a total rateable
value of £13.1m.

4.6

There is also a continued uncertainty over the number of appeals against the 2017
rating list received by the Valuation Office. Limited information is available on these
appeals, therefore until more detail is known and evaluated an estimate has been
calculated based on the previous appeals experience.

4.7

The estimated deficit balance as at 31.3.19 represents 5.2% of the total debit for the
year.

5.0

Treasury Management

5.1

The Annual Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators were approved by Cabinet
and Council in February.

5.2

Economic Background

5.3

After weak economic growth of only 0.1% in quarter one, growth picked up to 0.4% in
quarter 2 and to 0.6% in quarter 3. However, uncertainties over Brexit look likely to
cause growth to have weakened again in quarter four. After the Monetary Policy
Committee raised Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% in August, it is little surprise that they
have abstained from any further increases since then. We are unlikely to see any
further action from the MPC until the uncertainties over Brexit clear. In the event of a
disorderly exit, the MPC have said that rates could go up or down, though it is probably
much more likely to be down so as to support growth. Nevertheless, the MPC does
have concerns over the trend in wage inflation which peaked at a new post financial
crisis high of 3.3%, (excluding bonuses), in the three months to October. The main
issue causing this is a lack of suitably skilled people due to the continuing increase in
total employment and unemployment being near to 43 year lows. Correspondingly, the
total level of vacancies has risen to new highs.
As for CPI inflation itself, this has been on a falling trend, reaching 2.3% in November.
However, in the November Bank of England Inflation Report, the latest forecast for
inflation over the two year time horizon was raised to being marginally above the MPC’s
target of 2%, indicating a slight build up in inflationary pressures.
The rise in wage inflation and fall in CPI inflation is good news for consumers as their
spending power is improving in this scenario as the difference between to two figures in

Page 50

now around 1%, i.e. a real terms increase. Given the UK economy is very much
services sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed
through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the
coming months.

5.4

Interest Rate Forecast
Bank Rate remains at 0.75% having been increased by the MPC on 2nd August 2018.
Link Asset Services forecasts Base Rate increase to 1.00% during Q2 2019, followed
by a further 0.25% increase during Q1 2020.

5.5

Annual Investment Strategy
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2018/19 which includes the
Annual Investment strategy, was approved by Council on 7 February 2018. It sets out
the Council’s investment priorities as being :
 Security of Capital;
 Liquidity;
 Yield.
There were no short term investments held as at 31 December 2018, except a sum of
£1m is invested with Lloyds Bank at a rate of 3.03% maturing on 23.1.19. This
investment is held as part of the LAMS scheme.
Approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the
quarter ending 31 December 2018, except for the balance held with Lloyds Bank, which
exceeded the £10m limit for 3 days during the quarter.
Investment rates available in the market have continued at historically low levels.
Investment funds are available on a temporary basis and arise mainly from the timing of
the precept payments, receipts of grants and the progress of the capital programme.

5.6

Investment performance for the quarter ending 31 December 2018 is as follows:
Benchmark
7 day LIBID

Benchmark
Return
0.48%

Council
Performance
0.53%

Interest Earning
£26,900

The Council outperformed the benchmark by 0.05%. The budgeted investment returns
for 2018/19 is £50k. Due to cash flow requirements and current low interest rates,
investments held are at minimum and it is unlikely that this budget will be achieved.
The continuous use of internal balances is in line with the Council’s strategy and
reduces the amount of interest payable on loans and investment income.

5.7

Borrowing
The following loans were taken during the quarter:
New Short Team Borrowing
Start Date
Counterparty

Amount

Page 51

Interest

End Date

Rate %
22-Oct-18
22-Oct-18
07-Nov-18
20-Nov-18
23-Nov-18
03-Dec-18

East Riding of Yorkshire
Lewes DC
Liverpool City Council
Barnsley Met Council
Cheshire East BC
Lewes DC

-£2,000,000
-£2,000,000
-£1,000,000
-£3,000,000
-£5,000,000
-£3,000,000

Total
Less Short Term Borrowing Repaid
Repayment
Date
Counterparty
22-Oct-18 North Yorkshire CC
15-Nov-18 Derbyshire CC Pension Fund
20-Nov-18 Barnsley Met Council

1.00
0.70
0.75
0.95
0.82
0.75

17-Oct-19
23-Jan-19
07-Feb-19
20-May-19
12-Feb-19
01-Mar-19

-£16,000,000

Amount
£4,000,000
£5,000,000
£3,000,000

Total

£12,000,000

Net New Short Term Borrowing during quarter

-£4,000,000

Interest
Rate
0.80
0.80
0.75

No of
Days
185
92
92

Cash flow predictions indicate that further borrowing will be required in the next quarter,
depending on the timing of capital expenditure. The exact timing and nature of this
borrowing will be considered at that time in light of prevailing interest rates.

5.8

Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable
borrowing limits. The Council’s approved Treasury and Prudential Indicators
(affordability limits) are included in the approved TMSS.
During the quarter to 31 December 2018 the Council has operated within the treasury
limits and Prudential Indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy
Statement and in compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices,
except for a temporary balance exceeding limits with Lloyds Bank.

6.0

Write-offs

6.1

Financial Procedure Rule 4.26 provides delegated authority to the Chief Finance Officer
for the write off of irrecoverable debts below £5,000. Beyond that limit, unless particular
circumstances apply (like bankruptcy and liquidation) the approval of Cabinet is
required

6.2

Details of the write offs being recommended for write off by Cabinet are listed in the
Exempt Appendix to the report with brief explanation of the circumstances.

6.3

In all cases a number of methods of collection were attempted before the debts were
recommended for write off. The write off does not mean that debt is not still due to the
council and in cases where circumstances have changed the debt will be written back
on and recover pursued,

6.4

The write offs do not have an immediate financial effect on the current year’s budget as
the bad debt provision is greater than the write off total. However, the making of that
provision did have a cost implication at the time the provision was made. The Council
maintains provisions against the level of debts outstanding as follows:

Page 52

Provision
as % of
total debt
NNDR
Council Tax
Housing Rents
Housing Benefit
Overpayments
Sundry Debts

Funded by
50% Central Government,
40% EBC, 9% East Sussex
25% CC,& 1% East Sussex Fire
73% East Sussex CC, 13%
EBC, 9% Sussex Police &
36% 5% East Sussex Fire
35% 100% EBC HRA
55% 100% EBC General Fund
3% 100% EBC General Fund

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Original
Budget

Revised
Budget

Profiled
Budget

Actual

Variance

Projected
Outturn

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

CORPORATE SERVICES
Corporate Management
Financial Services Team
Corporate Finance
Internal Audit and Corporate Fraud
Strategic Finance
Human Resources
IT and Business Transformation
Legal Services
Local Democracy
Legal and Local Democracy
TOTAL CORPORATE SERVICES

169

(1,785)

172

25

(147)

(203)

644
1,216
207
2,067

651
1,227
200
2,078

576
1,056
294
1,926

570
1,030
294
1,894

(6)
(26)
(32)

(9)
(31)
1
(39)

478

451

350

343

(7)

(23)

1,684

1,650

1,534

1,481

(53)

(53)

273
659
932

305
620
925

307
561
868

313
557
870

6
(4)
2

2
(19)
(17)

5,330

3,319

4,850

4,613

(237)

(333)

15

48

25

(23)

(29)

SERVICE DELIVERY
Service Management

(17)

Service Management
Case Management
Account Management
Specialist Advisory
Bereavement Services
Case Management and Specialist Services

672
461
4,496
(1,284)
4,345

37
472
327
3,478
(1,308)
3,006

28
902
237
3,048
(872)
3,343

17
896
295
3,081
(832)
3,457

(11)
(6)
58
33
40
114

(7)
(6)
79
(807)
26
(715)

Service Management
Customer Contact
Neighbourhood First
Customer and Neighbourhood Services

828
564
1,392

25
609
382
1,016

64
1,365
601
2,030

66
1,550
632
2,248

2
185
31
218

2
200
29
231

114

137

165
(348)

Homes First
TOTAL SERVICE DELIVERY

(28)

106

(23)

5,692

4,143

5,398

5,844

446

63

32

51

53

2

Regeneration

143

189

103

74

(29)

(35)

Planning

259

509

401

370

(31)

(33)

38

39

104

41

(63)

(76)

-

-

182

182

(1,279)
515
(764)

(976)
543
(433)

STRATEGY, PLANNING AND REGENERATION
Service Management

Group Head of Commercial Business
Housing Development Team
Corporate Landlord
Facilities Management
Estates and Property
Business Planning and Performance
TOTAL STRATEGY, PLANNING AND
REGENERATION

(2,548)
501
(2,047)

(1,789)
475
(1,314)

2

-

-

303
28
331

385
30
415

908

921

731

751

20

58

(636)

376

808

1,038

230

331

Page 55

Appendix 2
Original
Budget

Revised
Budget

Profiled
Budget

Actual

Variance

Projected
Outturn

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

TOURISM AND ENTERPRISE
Service Management
Towner
Devonshire Park Complex

95
423
1

92
420
1

70
424
4

75
424
4

5
-

6
-

Tourism and Enterprise
Catering
Heritage
Tourist Information
Tourism and Enterprise

493
311
183
101
1,088

483
192
194
98
967

324
170
122
73
689

415
225
133
109
882

91
55
11
36
193

96
77
53
37
263

Sports Delivery
Seafront
Events
Theatres

238
(15)
611
1,006

238
(12)
567
998

291
7
593
130

307
(26)
607
132

16
(33)
14
2

20
(13)
31
2

TOTAL TOURISM AND ENTERPRISE

3,447

2,405

197

309

-

249

333

13,900

885

292

Other Operating Income and Expenditure

(1,278)

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE

12,555

3,271
(332)

10,777

Page 56

2,208
(249)

13,015

Appendix 3

Virements over £10k to be approved
From
Item Amount
1
£20,000 Green Waste
2
£65,650 Contingency
3
£17,600 Golf Club
4
£37,350 Contingency
5

£100,000 Green Waste

6

£500,000 Corporate

7

£70,000 Green Waste

Page 57

Transfers to/from Reserves to be approved
Item Amount
Reserve
1
£6,950 Earmarked reserves
2
£8,050 General Fund Reserve
3
£1,500 Earmarked reserves
4
£1,000,000 General Fund Reserve
5
£418,252 Strategic Change Reserve
6
£17,500 Earmarked reserves
7
£38,550 General Fund Reserve
8
£377,700 Revenue Grants Reserve
£1,490,802

To
Debtors
Stage Door
Contingency
Service
Areas
Corporate
Landlord
Investment
Properties
Customer
Contact
Centre

Description
Budget to cost additional staff resources
Set up costs for Stage Door
Set up budgets for Golf Club
Budget realignment of Gas, Electricity and NNDR
Surplus Green Waste income budget used to offset investment
property income target
Use of Investment Guarantee income to offset investment
property income target
Agency staff budget moved to Customer Contact Centre to cover
costs of agency staff

Description
Eastbourne Remembrance
Eastbourne Remembrance
Motcombe Dovecote
Transfer of Investment Guarantee income into reserve
Transfer of Investment Guarantee income into reserve
Transfer of Stamp duty income to Earmarked reserves
Funding of 3 JTP posts
Use of revenue grants received

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2018/19
FULL YEAR
BUDGET
BUDGET TO 31.12.2018
£' 000
£' 000

ACTUAL VARIANCE
£' 000

OUTTURN
VARIANCE
£' 000
£' 000

INCOME
Gross Rents
Charges for Services

(14,236)
(1,121)

(10,958)
(933)

(10,921)
(988)

37
(55)

37
(55)

(15,357)

(11,891)

(11,909)

(18)

(18)

7,261
1,063
126
4,338

5,446
302
97
0

5,446
355
114

0
53
17
0

0
53
17
0

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

12,788

5,845

5,915

70

70

NET COST OF SERVICE

(2,569)

(6,046)

(5,994)

52

52

1,936
(11)

0

0

0
0

0
0

(644)

(6,046)

(5,994)

52

52

500

0

0

0

0

(144)

(6,046)

(5,994)

TOTAL INCOME
EXPENDITURE
Management Fee (Eastbourne Homes Limited)
Supervision and Management
Provision for Doubtful Debts
Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets

Loan Charges - Interest
Interest Receivable
NET OPERATING (SURPLUS) DEFICIT
Appropriations
Transfer to Reserve
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT WORKING BALANCE
In Hand at 1st April 2018
Surplus for 2018/19
In Hand at 31st March 2019

(5,188)
(144)
(5,332)

Page 59

52

52

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5 - Capital

Line
Scheme
No.

Total Total Scheme
Scheme
Scheme spend 2013 to Spend 2018-19
Approved 31 Mar 2018
Q3

Updated
Allocation
2018-19

£000

£000

£000

£000

Variance
to
allocation

Funding Comments

£000

Page 61

1

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

2

Major Works

Ongoing

22,121

2,733

4,650 -

1,917 EBC

3

Environmental Improvements

Ongoing

286

7

45 -

38 EBC

4

Riverbourne House Kitchen
Conversion

140

262 -

122 EBC

5

Managed by Eastbourne Homes

22,407

2,880

4,957 -

2,077

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

1,836 608
689 25,540

4
44
4
2,916

99
375
45
5,476

103 EBC/Grant
331 EBC/Grant
49 EBC/Grant
2,560

21
22
23

Other Schemes
Sumach Close
Fort Lane
62a Tideswell Road
Total HRA
COMMUNITY SERVICES
Memorial Safety Cems
Ocklynge Cemetery Chapel
Crematorium Improvements (Main
Chapel)
Disabled Facilities Grants
BEST Grant (housing initiatives)
Acquisition of Land & Property
Black Robin Farm
Contaminated Land
Coast Defences Beach
Management
Cycling Strategy
Play Area Sovereign Harbour
Terminus Road Improvements

24

Sov Harbour Community Centre

25

Shinewater Skate Park
Hampden Park - Improvements
(Green Flag)

14
15
16
17
18
19
20

26

262
Ongoing
1,935
2,283
734

-

40
150
177

15
80

-

-

25 70 -

25 EBC
70 EBC
9 EBC

-

168

177 -

Ongoing
Ongoing
1,744
275
185

4,686
2,035
145

432
11
277
-

2,025 96 275
40 -

Ongoing

5,871

208

302 -

-

-

41
27
500
1,790

1,097

50

50 -

50

48

50

729

693

-

-

2 -

Grant
Grant
EBC
EBC
Grant

94 Grant
-

60

1

1,593
85
2
40

On target to complete 2018-19
New schemes approved Sept. Planning to
complete in 2018-19
Practically complete. Final electrics to
installed before letting

Completed. Retention outstanding
Tender for works due in Q4
Completed. Retention outstanding

Works planned for 2019-20
Works planned for 2019-20
Works in progress. Planned to complete in
2018-19

Planned works on target
Planned works on target
Schemes under investigation
Completed
Remaining grant committed in 2018-19
Some works deferred due to stormy weather

EBC
S106
10 EBC

2019-20 scheme
2019-20 scheme
Works progressing
Construction complete and keys have been
36 EBC/S106/Grant
handed over. Minor snagging outstanding.
1 EBC
Complete. Balance is for retention
2 EBC

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\3\AI00005356$n1hlyvsf.xlsx

Completed

Appendix 5 - Capital

30

Old Town Rec. - Improvements
(Green Flag)
Seaside Rec - all weather path
Signage Re-branding (Parks &
Open Spaces)
Car Parking Machines

31

Shinewater Park - Scoping

20

32

Helen Gardens Play Equip

40

33
34
35
36
37

Chiltern Close Play Equip
Oak Tree Lane Play Equip
Mulberry Close Play Equip
Lower Holywell Public Con
Redoubt Public Convenience

25
35
30
50
40

-

-

38

Refurbishment of Public Facilities

81

-

-

18

-

27
28
29

40
41
42
43
44

West Langney Lake Gates &
Signs
Waste Fleet Procurement & IT
Total Community Services
TOURISM & LEISURE
Sports Park Flood Lights
Re-surface Tennis Courts

45

ILTC - Air Conditioning

46
47
48
49
50

Redoubt - Stair Climber
Colonnade Removal
Redoubt - Asphalt Gun Platform
HPSC - Changing Rooms
Equipment at Devonshire Park

51

Sovereign Centre

52

Sovereign Centre Skate Park

53
54
55
56

Wash Down - Devonshire Park
Seafront Van
Sports Park Lighting
Signage

39

25

22

-

3 -

3 EBC

Completed

50

48

-

2 -

2 EBC

Completed. Balance held for snagging

30

5

25 -

13 EBC

Completed

97

66

25 -

25 EBC

10 -

9 EBC

1 -

1 EBC

25 18 -

1 EBC
18 EBC
EBC
EBC
EBC

On target to complete in 2018-19
Survey works commenced. Initial meetings
with Architects in progress
Completed. Remaining allocation to be used
on planting.
Completed.
Ongoing feasibility in progress
2019-20 Allocation

-

-

1
39

Page 62

30
265

242
-

20
500
50
20
120

-

41 18

14,207

87

24

1,600

29,100

12

1,939

18

41

S106

EBC
1,984

46 EBC

20 54 -

711

63

1,339 -

1,276 EBC

20
13
60
10

-

19

1

-

Fleet ordered. Delivery expected 2019-20

87 -

51

-

Completed

30 EBC/External Planning to complete in 2018-19
23 EBC/External Allocation no longer required

66

-

Schemes to be identified

30 23 -

EBC
EBC
EBC
20 EBC
3 EBC

200

-

-

3,923 -

-

41 EBC

Works planned for 2019-20
Works planned for 2019-20

-

-

-

1
13
60
9

-

EBC
1
13
60
9

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\3\AI00005356$n1hlyvsf.xlsx

EBC
EBC
EBC
EBC

Works started Q3 - expected to complete
22 February 2019

2019-20 allocation
2019-20 allocation
2019-20 allocation
Works planned to complete in 2018-19
On target to complete in Q4
Initial planning work in progress. Construction
works planed to start 2019-20
Consultation in progress. Currently engaging
with all the schools and relevant clubs in
Eastbourne.
Completed.
On target to complete in 2018-19
On target to complete in 2018-19
On target to complete in 2018-19

Appendix 5 - Capital

71
72

Devonshire Park Theatres - Toilet
refurbishment
Victoria Mansions - Museum
Conversion
Total Tourism & Leisure
CORPORATE SERVICES
Carbon Reduction Works
Invest to Save
Investment Capital
IT - Block Allocation
Contingency
Finance Transformation
EHIC - Loan (Gowland Ct)
EHIC - Revolving Credit
EHIC - Loan Facility (EBC
purchases)
EHIC - Loan Facility (Private
Properties)
EHIC - new mixed tenure homes
EHIC - Victoria Mansions

73

Aspiration Homes - Credit facility

74

Aspiration Homes - Facility
Bedfordwell Road - Land & Pump
House
HPK Retail Refurbishment

57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70

Page 63

75
76
77
78
79
80
81

The Stage Door (Previously
Buccaneer)
JTP Programme Office
Total Corporate Services
Asset Management
Devonshire Park Redevelopment
Project

103

-

-

103 -

103 EBC

85

-

-

85 -

85 EBC

1,039

155

434
Ongoing
5,600
Ongoing
Ongoing
200
1,850
250

235
1,235
1,238
1,835
95

347
10
30

490 15 155 -

3,938

913

42

42

15,000

2,481

366

2,286 -

1,920 EBC

20,000
4,035

3,070

65

965 -

EBC
900 EBC

5

100 -

100

-

1,824 -

EBC
10 EBC
External
143 EBC
EBC
EBC
5 EBC
125 EBC

Works planned for 2019-20

-

Further schemes to be identified

EBC

95

10,000

369

644

917 -

273 EBC

6,100

2,151

236

2,000 -

1,764 EBC

9,000

252

344

2,000 -

1,656 EBC

2,030

1,667

279

363 -

84 EBC

8,278

4,872
20,413

1,283
3,651

1,687 11,030 -

404 EBC
7,379

19,903

15,550

31,242 -

15,692 EBC

-

-

30 -

30 EBC

53,960

Completion due Q4

1,669
-

10 -

Works being completed in Q4

Available for schemes to be identified
Schemes to be identified
On target to complete 2018-19.
Future years alllocation
2019-20 allocation
Available for drawdown as required
Available for drawdown as required

Further properties to be identified
Schemes to be identified
Available for drawdown as required
Available for drawdown as required
Available for drawdown as required
Scheme progressing.
Planned works completed. Further works
being considered. addressed at some
point.

Planned works on schedule.

Scheme progressing - subject to separate
report
Working with legal on covenants before
scheme can progress.
No further works planned for 2018-19

82

Holiday Letting Refurbishment

30

83

EDGC - improvements

45

41

10

4

6 EBC

84

Towner - improvements

125

14

41

111 -

70 EBC

Roof replacement, upgrades work for doors
& chillers planned for 2018-19

85

ILTC - Improvements

13

60 -

47 EBC

External works planned for 2018-19 but
weather dependent

60

-

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\3\AI00005356$n1hlyvsf.xlsx

Appendix 5 - Capital

86

Devonshire Park Theatre

47

-

87

Bandstand Renovations

100

-

-

100 -

100 EBC

90

-

-

90 -

90 EBC

90

-

-

334
32

-

-

134 32 -

85 EBC
32 EBC

Completed
Completed

-

-

76 -

76 EBC

Available for projects under review

19,958

15,710

31,926 -

1,800

126

435

1,674 -

22

1

1

21 -

127

436

1,695 -

1,259

55,744
25,540
81,284

21,891
2,916
24,807

50,398 5,476 55,874 -

28,507
2,560
31,067

93
94
95

Wish Tower Martello Improvements
Wall replacement The Point &
Hardwick Rd
Downland Water Schemes
Boilers at Sports centres
Asset Management - Block
Allocation
Total Asset Management
Grant Funded Schemes
Wish Tower Restaurant

96

Statue Sculpture Installation

97

Total Grant Funded Schemes

98
99
100

General Fund
HRA
Total

88
89
90
91
92

Ongoing

47

47

49

-

EBC

-

EBC

Completed
Survey reports completed. Currently made
safe.

Options being considered based on surveys
received
2019-20 scheme

16,216
1,239 EBC/Grant
20 Grant

Page 64

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\5\3\AI00005356$n1hlyvsf.xlsx

Construction commenced in Nov 2018.
Awaiting confirmation of final scope of
sculpture including associated public realm
improvements.

Agenda Item 8
Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

20 March 2019

Title:

Equality and Fairness – Annual Report

Report of:

Chief Executive

Cabinet member:

Councillor Swansborough

Ward(s):

All

Purpose of report:

The report sets out progress against the Council’s current
Equality Objectives and 2018/19 Action Plan and seeks
approval of an Action Plan for 2019/20.

Decision type:

Key decision

Officer
recommendation(s):

(1) That Cabinet note the Annual Report of activities carried
out in 2018, set out at Appendix A
(2) That Cabinet approve the Action Plan proposed at
Appendix B.

Reasons for
recommendations:

To promote equality and fairness and eliminate
discrimination, ensuring fair access to services and
opportunities and comply with the Council’s duties under
the Equality Act 2010.

Contact Officer(s):

Name:
Pat Taylor
Post title: Strategy and Partnerships Lead – Thriving
Communities
E-mail:
pat.taylor@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 01323 415909

1

Introduction

1.1

The council has statutory equality responsibilities, both as an employer and in
the provision of public services under the Equality Act 2010.

1.2

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the council, in the exercise of its
functions, to have due regard to the need to:


eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other
conduct prohibited by the Equality Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic (as specified in paragraph 1.3 below) and people who do

Page 65

not share it (for example by meeting specific needs; minimising difficulties
faced or encouraging participation in public life); and

1.3

foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.

The protected characteristics covered by the Equality Duty are:










age
disability
gender reassignment
marriage and civil partnership (but only in respect of eliminating unlawful
discrimination)
pregnancy and maternity
race – this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality
religion or belief – this includes lack of belief
sex (gender)
sexual orientation

1.4

Specific duties which came into force in 2011 require public bodies, such as the
council, to publish information annually which shows their compliance with the
general Equality Duty. This report details progress against EBC’s Equality
Objectives during 2018/19 and summarises some of the equality related work
undertaken. This enables Members to scrutinise the council’s work in this area,
and ensure that the council is fulfilling this duty.

1.5

The council reviewed its Equality Objectives in 2017/18 and agreed the following
objectives at its meeting on 7th February 2018:
Objective 1: We will ensure that equality and diversity is at the heart of
everything we do and that good practice is embedded in the councils’ culture
and work.
Objective 2: We will build respect and understanding of each other across our
communities by working with them to tackle prejudice, discrimination and hate
crime.
Objective 3: We will promote fairness and accessibility.

2

Proposal
Action Plan 2018 to 19

2.1

Cabinet is asked to note the actions taken to promote equality and fairness in
2018/19 as set out in Appendix A and summarised in the following paragraphs.

2.2

Phase 2 of the Joint Transformation Programme was completed early in 2018
with the establishment of integrated service delivery teams working across both
Eastbourne and Lewes councils.

2.3

To support the integration of services a Joint Equality and Fairness Planning

Page 66

Group has been established to enable senior officers to review the council’s
work on equality and fairness, and oversee the process for assessing the impact
of decisions and services on groups protected under the Equality Act and
identified as needing particular consideration.
2.4

In addition a Joint Equality and Fairness Stakeholder Group has met to provide
an external view from members from a range of protected groups across both
Eastbourne and Lewes on the council’s policies and services. This group has
reviewed proposals and contributed comments on these and on service reviews
in development.

2.5

Work to align policies and procedures has been undertaken during this year with
a number of joint policies and procedures presented to Members for their
consideration and approval. These have all been supported by Equality and
Fairness analyses.

2.6

Key policies and procedures reviewed and assessed during the year for their
impact on groups protected under the Equality Act were the:
 Christmas Working Policy
 Flexitime Policy
 Travel Policy
 Joint Agile Working Policy
 Equality Monitoring Policy
 Safeguarding Policy
 Code of Conduct
 Dignity at Work Policy
 Recruitment Policy
 Unreasonable and unreasonably persistent complainant policy
 JTP Phase 3 consultation and restructure process.

2.7

In addition to these policy reviews, service teams within the councils have begun
reviewing their functions and how these impact on groups protected under the
Equality Act. An update on progress is included within the Action Plan update at
Appendix A.

2.8

A programme of staff training was developed and delivered during the year
covering:
 Equality and Fairness – delivered to all service delivery staff
 Equality and Fairness analysis and reviews – for staff responsible for
service development, reporting and service reviews
 Access training – delivered to Neighbourhood First staff to enable them to
carry out inspections and audits.

2.9

The council has also considered a range of planning policies and development
proposals, and policies designed to address environmental issues. Officers work
closely with the Disability Involvement Group to ensure all new developments
address the needs of disabled people.

2.10

The council also published its Gender Pay Gap report in April 2018. As reported
in June 2018, this showed that, at 31st March 2017, the council’s workforce

Page 67

consisted of 488 women and 423 men. The figures showed that the council had
a mean gender pay gap of 3.5% and a median pay gap of -8.6%. There was a
reasonably even, but not equal percentage of men and women in posts in the
lower quartile, the lower middle quartile and the upper quartile. In the upper
middle quartile there are significantly more females.
2.11

As well as the policy and service reviews carried out, which are designed to
eliminate discrimination and to advance equality of opportunity, the council has
continued its work to foster positive relations between protected groups and
other community members. The council does this through its engagement with
the Disability Involvement Group, Faiths Forum and Eastbourne Cultural
Involvement Group in particular and maintains close working relationships with
the BourneOut LGBT, the Seniors Forum, the Youth partnership and other
voluntary and community organisations working with members of protected
groups.

2.12

The council also targets grant funding at projects designed to promote the
inclusion of those protected under the Equality Act in community activities and
has, in addition, supported a number of events this year:
 The Good Life Show – organised by the Seniors Forum
 Eastbourne Pride
 Health in Mind
 Eastbourne Cultural Involvement Group – Learning Event
 Eastbourne Disabled Access Day.
We have also continued to organise a major public event to commemorate
Holocaust Memorial Day and continue to support World Aids Day.

2.13

The council’s work with Syrian refugees also continues. In 2018/19 the Council
identified housing in Eastbourne for four families comprising twenty one people,
ensured they had basic furniture and equipment they would need, and arranged
transport from the airport, translation services and appointments with key
services, such as GP surgeries, schools, colleges, job centres and banks. We
continue to provide ongoing, intensive support, in partnership with the statutory
services and voluntary organisations to help them integrate into their
communities with a particular focus on English language learning and pathways
into work. We have been offered a further three properties and are on track to
meet our government target to house forty individuals by the Spring 2019.
Action Plan 2019/20

2.14

Cabinet is asked to approve the action plan proposed for 2019/20. This is
attached at Appendix B.

2.15

Following council’s adoption of the new Joint Equality Monitoring policy in 2018,
a key task in 2019/20 will be the review of equality monitoring data collected
within our different services. The council needs to ensure that the new systems
developed for recording service activity and outcomes are recording and
reporting on equality data appropriately and in line with the policy.

2.16

Work reviewing the impact on different members of our community of council

Page 68

services will also continue with a full programme of service reviews.
2.17

The council is also committed to continuing its engagement with members and
representatives of groups protected under the Equality Act.

2.18

We will also continue our work with a range of partners to promote awareness of
Domestic Abuse through the White Ribbon Campaign and will review our own
policies and procedures, and contribute to the development of a local domestic
abuse strategy and commissioning plans.

3

Outcome expected and performance management

3.1

Annual action plans provide a mechanism for the council to oversee its
performance in meeting the requirements of the Equality Act. The development
of each action plan is designed to cover any areas needing review or
development in the year ahead.

3.2

Progress delivering the action plans is monitored at quarterly meetings of the
Equality and Fairness Planning Group which is chaired by the Chief Executive
and includes officers representing Human Resources, Unison, and internal audit
as well as an officer from each of the council’s directorates.

4

Consultation

4.1

The council consulted on its Equality and Fairness Policy and Equality
Objectives in 2017 and has consulted on its Equality Monitoring Policy in 2018.
Comments received were considered and amendments incorporated into the
final policies and objectives at that stage.

4.2

The proposed Action Plan was circulated to members of the council’s Equality
and Fairness Stakeholder Group. One member asked that reference be made to
the governments proposals for a Gender Recognition Act in the Action Plan and
action has been added to ‘take account of the outcome of the consultation…and
amend policies and monitoring text as appropriate.’

4.3

Officers will continue consulting with members of the Equality and Fairness
Planning Group and Stakeholder group on proposals and service delivery during
the coming year in line with the procedures established for this in 2018.

5

Corporate plan and council policies

5.1

The council’s work on equality and fairness contributes to our corporate aims of
promoting thriving and ‘vibrant communities where diversity is valued’ and
ensuring all residents have access to services, activities and facilities which help
them reach their full potential. Key to this has been our support for local
community-based organisations committed to increasing the inclusion and voice
of those residents who might otherwise feel excluded and the work we have
done to build strong relationships with local communities protected under the
Equality Act.

Page 69

5.2

The extensive work we are doing to review our policies and services, and their
impact on different residents including those protected under the Act and others
who might face barriers demonstrates the council’s commitment to promoting
equality and fairness in all our work.

6

Business case and alternative option(s) considered

6.1

Under the Public Sector Equality Duty the council is required to publish
information annually which shows their compliance with the general Equality
Duty. This report demonstrates the council’s compliance and allows the council’s
performance and plans to be reviewed and scrutinised.

7

Financial appraisal

7.1

There are no additional financial costs associated with this report. The proposal
to integrate governance and procedures for overseeing compliance with the
Council’s duties under the Equality Act is in line with the broader project to
integrate Eastbourne Borough Council and Lewes District Council services to
realise savings through the efficient use of resources.

8

Legal implications

8.1

The statutory framework for equalities and the Council’s obligations under this
legislation is set out in the Introduction (section1) of this report.
Failure by the Council to comply with its public sector equality duty and other
relevant provisions of the Equality Act 2010 could render it liable to legal action.
Lawyer consulted 14.02.19

Legal ref: 008058-JOINT- OD

9

Risk management implications

9.1

The following risks will arise if the recommendations set out at 13.1 below are not implemente



Failure to comply with statutory obligations under the Equality Act 2010
and
Increased risk of incurring vicarious liability for acts of discrimination,
harassment or victimisation in the event of litigation.

No new risks will arise if the recommendations are implemented.
10

Equality analysis

10.1

The Annual Report and Action Plan are designed to ensure the council fulfils its
duties and takes a proactive approach to equality and fairness across all
sections of our community including but not limited to groups covered by the
Equality Act 2010. No groups will be affected negatively.

10.2

There is evidence of changes to the ethnic profile of residents in the local area
and the need to take this into consideration in the development and delivery of

Page 70

services is noted.
10.3

A full Equality and Fairness Analysis has been completed and is available from
the report author.

11

Appendices



12

Appendix A – Updated Equality Action Plan 2018 to 19
Appendix B – Proposed Equality Action Plan 2019 to 20

Background papers
Equality Act 2010: guidance - GOV.UK
Equality and Fairness Policy
Equality Objectives 2018 to 2021
Consultation Report on Equality Objectives 2018
Equality and Fairness Analysis – please contact the report author

Page 71

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
EBC Equality and Fairness Action Plan 2018/19
Ref

Page 73

Action

Lead Officer

Target date

1.

Review and report on equality profile in relation
to recruitment and development of staff

Head of Human Resources

December
2018

In hand

2.

Publish Gender Pay Gap report

Head of Human Resources

April 2018

Completed

3.

Establish joint Equality and Fairness Planning
Group with EBC

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

March 2018

Completed

4.

Establish joint Equality and Fairness
Stakeholder Group with EBC

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

March 2018

Completed

5.

Identify representatives of women’s interests to
join Equality and Fairness Stakeholder Group

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

March 2018

Completed

6.

Work with Diversity Resource International to
develop the Eastbourne Cultural Involvement
Group and ensure effective engagement with
BAME communities

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

December
2018

ECIG meets four times a year and
DRI are delivering a good service
convening and coordinating
meetings and events..

Customer Communications and
Engagement Lead

December
2018

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

May 2018

7.

8.

Identify approaches to engagement which
encourage participation by young people,
women, faith communities, BAME communities
and LGBT people and increase the proportion
of responses from these groups
Provide training and guidance on Equality
Duties and Equality Analysis for Heads of
Service, Managers and Team Leader, Project
Managers and members of Planning Group
and Stakeholder Group

Ongoing. Officers attended
meetings of the Your Town
Project, the Children and Young
People’s Trust and ESCC Take
Over Day. The council contributes
funding to Eastbourne Pride.
Completed.

Ref

Action

Lead Officer

Target date

Arrange training on Access Issues to
Neighbourhood First teams and ensure
Neighbourhood Officers are able to respond
confidently and effectively to customer
enquiries relating to access issues

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

June 2018

Completed

10. Promote ‘White Ribbon’ Activities and
implement action plan in partnership with EBC
and Domestic Abuse Working Group.

Specialist Advisor – Community
Safety

December
2018

Completed – White Ribbon status
confirmed.

11. Promote activities commemorating
anniversaries of Universal Suffrage 1918
legislation

Customer Communications and
Engagement Lead

December
2018

Completed

12. Support the coordination of an inter-faith event
if initiated by the Faiths Forum

Policy and Engagement
Coordinator

December
2018

None requested

13. Coordinate events for World Aids Day and
Holocaust Memorial Day

Policy and Engagement
Coordinator

December
2018

Completed

14. Continue prioritising funding for projects which
promote the inclusion of communities and
groups protected under the Equality Act and
fund up to five events designed to raise
awareness and foster positive relationships

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

December
2018

Funding awarded to Eastbourne
Seniors Forum, ECIG,
Eastbourne DIG, Faiths Forum,
BourneOut LGBT, Health in Mind
and Eastbourne Access Group to
support local events. Other small
grants awarded to organisations
for work with disabled people,
older people and BAME groups..

15. Review and align LDC/EBC Equality Monitoring
Policies for JTP

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

April 2018

Completed.

9.

Page 74

Ref

Action

Lead Officer

Target date

16. Work with voluntary sector partners to promote
equality and fairness through training and
network meetings

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

December
2018

Ongoing – 3VA cover this within
their programme of training for
voluntary sector organisations.

17. Implement a 3-year programme of functional
reviews following completion of Phase 2 JTP

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

April 2018 to
2021

Forms and process agreed –
reviews are now ongoing.
See 20 below.

Page 75

18. Monitor use and quality of translation and
interpreting services

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

19. Undertake self-assessment against Equality
Framework for Local Government

Strategy and Partnerships Lead
– Thriving Communities

20.

Carry out a programme of service reviews:

December
2018

Ongoing. Council Hub information
on BSL services improved
following consultation with
DeafCOG and other BSL
speakers.

Deferred
pending
completion of
JTP
(2019/20)

n/a

Responsible service leads for:



Projects and Performance monitoring

Performance and Programmes

31st Dec 18

Completed



Communications

Customer Advice

31st March 19

In hand – discussed with
stakeholder group Sept 18



Community Grants

Strategy and Partnerships -–
Thriving Communities

31st Dec 18

Completed



Tourist Information Services

31st March 19

In hand – will be discussed with
stakeholder group March 19



Marketing

31st March 19

In hand – will be discussed with
stakeholder group March 19

Tourism and Enterprise
Tourism and Enterprise

Ref

Action

Lead Officer

Page 76



Homelessness Services

Homes First



Housing Grants and Loans

Homes First



Customer Advice services – telephone
and reception



Business rate setting and collection



Target date
31st Dec 18

To be merged with review of
housing options in 2019/20

31st March 19

In hand – discussed with
stakeholder group June 18

Customer Advice

31st March 19

In hand – discussed with
stakeholder group Dec 18

Functional lead – Growth and
Prosperity with Accounts
manager

31st Dec 18

To be merged with review of
Council Tax setting and collection
in 2019/20

Household waste collections, recycling,
bulky waste, trade waste

Waste collection services

31st Dec 18

Deferred pending recruitment of
new service manager



Recruitment

Human Resources

31st Dec 18

Deferred to 2019 to allow time for
alignment of key staffing policies
required as part of JTP.



Committees and Councillors

Democratic Services

31st March 19

Deferred until after local elections

Rent setting and collection

Strategy and Partnerships –
Thriving Communities

31st Dec 18

Completed – presented to
stakeholder group Dec 18




Budgeting

31st

Dec 18

Agreed this needs to be
incorporated into Service and
Financial Planning process
ensuring responsible service
heads assess impact of any
budget proposals.

Appendix B
EBC Draft Equality and Fairness Action Plan 2019/20

Page 77

Ref

Action

Lead Officer

Target date

1.

Review equality information collected and used within
different service areas.

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities with Heads of Service

March 2020

2.

Update/improve information on local community
profiles

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities

March 2020

3.

Continue working to encourage participation of young
people, women, faith communities, BAME communities
and LGBT people.

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities with Customer Communications &
Engagement Lead

March 2020

4.

Ensure new council members have access to high
quality information and training on the Public Sector
Equality Duty and procedures

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities

June 2020

5.

Provide training and guidance on Equality Duties and
Equality Analysis for new staff within the council

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities

Sept 2020

Strategy and Partnerships Lead – Housing and
Communities with Strategy and Corporate Projects
Officer – Thriving Communities

March 2020

6.

Review policies and procedures on domestic abuse,
and maintain White Ribbon status

7.

Coordinate events for World Aids Day and Holocaust
Memorial Day

Policy and Engagement Coordinator

January 2020

8.

Continue prioritising funding for projects which promote
the inclusion of communities and groups protected
under the Equality Act

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities

February 2020

9.

Review and monitor use and quality of translation and

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving

March 2020

Ref

Action

Lead Officer

interpreting services

Communities

10.

Integrate equality and fairness review to service and
financial planning process, including setting fees and
charges

Projects and Performance Lead

11.

Complete year 1 service reviews





12.

Page 78




















Communications
Housing Grants and Loans
Tourist Information
Marketing

Carry out ‘year 2’ service reviews:




Responsible service leads for:

Consultation and Engagement
Homelessness / housing options
Business rate and council tax setting and
collection
Committees and Councillors
Regeneration, business advice & support
Community Safety
Planning Policy Development
Sports and Leisure Facilities
Seafront Services
Art, cultural and heritage services
Tenant Participation and Involvement
Customer Contact – on-line services
Parks and Gardens management
Health and Safety advice and inspections
Private housing inspection and licensing
Food hygiene and inspection
Access Advice

















August 2019

June 2019

Business Planning and Performance
Housing Needs
Tourism and Leisure

Responsible service leads for:




Target date

Customer Communications & Engagement
Housing Needs
Functional Lead- Growth & Prosperity /
Accounts Manager
Democratic Services
Economic Development
S&PL – Housing and Communities
Planning Policy
Tourism and Leisure with Wave Leisure Trust
Tourism and Leisure
Tourism and Leisure
Neighbourhood Housing
Customer Advice
Specialist Advice
Specialist advice
Housing Needs
Specialist Advice
Neighbourhood First

31 March 2020

Ref

Action




Lead Officer
Response to neighbor complaints – e.g. noise,
graffiti, abandoned vehicles
Staff Development
Electoral services





Target date

Specialist Advice (Private) / Neighbourhood
Housing (Council)Human Resources
Human Resources
Democratic Services

Page 79

13.

Take account of the outcome of the consultation on the
current proposed reform of the Gender Recognition Act
when published and amend policies and monitoring
text as appropriate.

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities

Depends on
outcome of
consultation

14.

Undertake self-assessment against Equality
Framework for Local Government

Strategy and Corporate Projects Officer – Thriving
Communities

Deferred
pending
completion of
JTP (2019/20)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

21 March 2019

Title:

Acquisition of Land in Old Orchard Road, Eastbourne

Report of:

Ian Fitzpatrick, Director of Regeneration and Planning

Cabinet member:

Councillor Alan Shuttleworth

Ward(s):

Devonshire

Purpose of report:

This reports sets out the proposal for the acquisition of land
currently in the ownership of Homes England/Ministry of
Justice of the former Magistrates Court and adjoining
property at 35 Old Orchard Road.

Decision type:

Key decision

Officer
recommendation(s):

(1) To delegate authority to the Director of Regeneration &
Planning in consultation with the Portfolio holder for
Housing and the Chief Finance Officer to take all steps to
complete the purchase of Magistrates Court site and 35 Old
Orchard Road, Eastbourne on terms equivalent or better
than set out in this report.
(2) Approve a corresponding EBC General Fund allocation
in the 18/19 capital programme as set out in the confidential
Appendix 1.

Reasons for
recommendations:

To enable the acquisition of land to deliver new homes and
facilities for the town.

Contact Officer(s):

Name: Ian Beckett
Post title: Development Consultant
E-mail:ian.beckett@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
Telephone number: 07740336751

1

Introduction

1.1

This paper outlines proposal for the acquisition of the former Magistrates Court
and 35 Old Orchard land. It also sets out the proposed next steps following the
acquisition.

1.2

The Eastbourne Magistrates has remained vacant since its closure in 2017. 35
Old Orchard Road is currently occupied by the Probation Service who are
looking to relocate to more suitable premises.

Page 81

1.3

This report seeks authority to acquire the land of both existing buildings so
further design can be progressed with a full report back to Cabinet in the
Summer with a business case. At that point a decision can be taken on the final
scheme design and whether the homes or facilities are developed within the
General Fund, Housing Revenue Account or sold to a Council owned entity for
delivery such as Aspiration Homes LLP.

2

The Proposal

2.1

The recommendation is to purchase the land of:


The Old Magistrates Court, Old Orchard Road
A value has been agreed with Home England who took transfer of the site
from the Ministry of Justice. Homes England have negotiated on a
‘special purchase’ basis with us to enable delivery. We have undertaken
our own red book valuation on the site to ensure value for money is
achieved.



2.2

35 Old Orchard Road – there are negotiations are underway with the
Ministry of Justice with final terms to be agreed. Again any such
acquisition will be subject to red book valuation.

The current scheme design and viability basis for acquisition is for affordable
housing to be delivered. However there is potential for some of the development
to include an alternative use such as office space. Once the land is within the
Councils ownership a business case will be developed which will include the

Page 82

advice from both a planning and commercial perspective.
2.3

Current Scheme – Affordable Housing
The indicative viability appraisal is set out in appendix 1 fo affordable housing.
The works cost used to estimate cost of construction is based on estimates
received from Clear Futures based on local market tenders.

2.4

The Council could decide to build the homes in the Housing Revenue Account or
through on of its wholly owned entities. This will be subject to further due
diligence based on the future use and financial viability with Cabinet taking the
final decision.

3

Outcome expected and performance management

3.1

Should the delivery of affordable housing progress we would expect the delivery
timetable for the new homes to be as follows:
Acquisition of Magistrates Court Site
Acquisition of 35 Old Orchard Road
Planning Approval
Start on Site
Completion

March 2019
June 2019
March 2020
June 2020
March 2022

Even if we include an alternative additional use for the site we do not foresee
further delay to a start on site proposed.
4

Consultation

4.1

A full consultation process will be followed as part of the planning process. Any
decision about moving existing services for the Probation service will be subject
to their own internal governance procedures and consultation processes.

5

Corporate plan and council policies

5.1

The development of this site meets the Council objectives in the corporate plan
delivering more homes for the town and supporting the local economy through
thriving communities.

5.2

Any affordable housing will need to be compliant with the Councils Affordable
Housing requirements as set out in their planning policy documents.

6

Business case and alternative option(s) considered

6.1

Overarchingly the recommendation for the Council to acquire this land is sound
given our ability to then influence the future use and opportunity of this key
strategic site for the town. We know that the increased demand for affordable
housing in the town continues to grow and the social and financial cost of this
provides a clear business case for developing more affordable housing.

Page 83

6.2

As stated earlier in the report the overall mix for the scheme and whether there
are alternative uses and options to include in the development of the land will be
considered as part of the due diligence with a full report back to Cabinet in the
Summer.

7

Financial appraisal

7.1

The Finance implications are included at Appendix 1, and the recommendation
is to include the purchase price in the general fund capital programme. The
development costs will be subject to a business case report in the Summer and
depending on the findings the development costs will be included within the
appropriate entity’s capital programme.
The properties currently have been subject to an option to tax, as the Council is
able to recover the VAT it is considered that the best financial option for the
Council to undertake the purchase. If there is any subsequent transfer to one of
Council’s wholly owned entities, it will be undertaken to ensure the Council is left
in a financial neutral position.

8

Legal implications

8.1

The legal implications are set out in Confidential Appendix 1

9

Risk management implications

9.1

The key risks and mitigations are set out in the following table:
Ref
1

Risk
Overpayment on land

2

Build cost overrun

3

Long term viability

4

Legal issues (set out in
Confidential Appendix 1)

Mitigations
 Land purchase based on
current valuations
 Build costs have been
provided by CSF and
include 10% contingency.
Building contract will be
based on a fixed price
contract.
 Desktop surveys have
been completed to assess
abnormal costs
 Scheme is for affordable
rent which has high
demand
 See Confidential Appendix
1

10

Equality analysis

10.1

The provision of good quality housing with a mix of tenure and affordability helps
meet the need of the community. Affordable housing allows the Council to
provide assistance to those in need within our community.

Page 84

11

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Costs (Exempt)

12

Background papers
The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:
 Site Location
MoJ Location Plan.pdf
 Magistrates Court Site image
Magistrate Court Eastbourne.pdf
 35 Old Orchard Road Site image
35 Old Orchard Road.jpg

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

